
 

 
 

 
 

         28 October 2016 
 
 

HEDGE END, WEST END AND BOTLEY LOCAL AREA COMMITTEE 
will meet on 

Monday, 7 November 2016 

beginning at 
7:00 pm 

in the 
Hedge End 2000 Centre, St John's Road, Hedge End, SO30 4AF 

 
 
TO: Councillor Daniel Clarke (Chairman) 
 Councillor Bruce Tennent (Vice-Chairman) 

Councillor Margaret Allingham Councillor Janice Asman 
Councillor Louise Bloom Councillor Carol Boulton 
Councillor Cynthia Garton Councillor Jerry Hall 
Councillor Keith House Councillor Rupert Kyrle 
Councillor Angel Myerscough Councillor Emma Norman 
Councillor Derek Pretty  

 
 
Staff Contacts: Cheryll Kemsley, Democratic Services Officer Tel: 023 8068 8112; 

Email: cheryll.kemsley@eastleigh.gov.uk 
 

 Julia Birt, Local Area Manager Tel: 023 8068 8437;  
Email: julia.birt@eastleigh.gov.uk 

 
RICHARD WARD 

Head of Legal and Democratic Services 
_____________________________________________________________________ 
 

Copies of this and all other agendas can be accessed via the 
Council's website - http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/meetings 

as well as in other formats, including Braille, audio, large print and 
other languages, upon request. 

Members of the public are invited to speak on general items at the 
start of the meeting, and on individual agenda items at the time the 

item is discussed.  To register please contact the Democratic 
Services Officer above. 

Please be aware that Eastleigh Borough Council permits filming, 
sound recording and photography at meetings open to the public. 

 

Eastleigh House 
Upper Market Street 
Eastleigh SO50 9YN 

http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/meetings


AGENDA 
 

1. Public Participation     
 
2. Minutes    (Pages 1 - 8)  

 To consider the Minutes of the meeting held on 12 September 2016. 
  
3. Apologies     
 
4. Declarations of Interest      

 Members are invited to declare interests in relation to items of business on the 
agenda.  Any interests declared will be recorded in the Minutes. 

  
5. Chairman's report     
 
6. Area Manager's report     
 
7. Diversion of Public Footpath Cycleway at Pavilion Road, Hedge End, and 

Dedication of New Route    (Pages 9 - 14) 
 
8. Fees and Charges    (Pages 15 - 20) 
 
9. Community Investment Programme Priorities in Hedge End, West End and Botley    

(Pages 21 - 52) 
 
10. Funding for Local Projects    (Pages 53 - 56) 
 
11. Presentation on Planning Guidelines     
 
12. Planning Application - 67-71 High Street, West End    (Pages 57 - 76)  

 Change of use of part of rear garden of no. 9 Severn Way to provide parking for 
existing car dealership and erection of single storey extension to workshop building 
to provide an additional service bay (Ref: F/16/78928) 

  
13. Planning Application - Shafford Meadows, Hedge End    (Pages 77 - 88)  

 Application for non-material amendment: partial substitution of approved layout 
drawing as referenced in conditions 1 and 14 to allow for changes to approved 
parking arrangements (Ref: F/12/71663) 

  
14. Planning Appeals      

 The Head of Legal and Democratic Services to report:- 
 
(a) that the following appeal has been lodged:- 
 

16 Ullswater Avenue, West End, Southampton - Appeal against the 
Council’s refusal of planning permission for the change of use from open 
amenity land to domestic curtilage (Ref: F/16/78552.) 

 
 This was a Delegated Decision. 



 
(b) that the following appeal has been allowed:- 
 

Land off Botley Road, West End – Appeal against the Council’s refusal of 
planning permission for a development of up to 100 dwellings (including up 
to 35% affordable housing), structural planting and landscaping, informal 
public open space, surface water attenuation and vehicular access from 
Botley Road, and associated ancillary works (Ref: O/15/76418.). 

 
(c) that the following appeals have been dismissed:- 
 

5 to 9 Shamblehurst Lane South, Hedge End - Appeal against the Council’s 
refusal of planning permission to grant consent for the felling of four 
sycamore trees protected by a Tree Preservation Order (Ref: T/16/77827.) 
 
This was a Delegated Decision. 
  
7 Maddoxford Lane, Botley - Appeal against the Council’s refusal of 
planning permission re-development of existing chalet bungalow, new roof 
to same of ridge height, new front extension for a double garage/secure 
basement storage and first floor living accommodation, new permeable 
driveway and landscaping to improve site access and parking (Ref: 
F/16/77816.)  
 
This was a Delegated Decision. 

  

DATE OF NEXT MEETING 
Monday, 9 January 2017 at 7:00 pm 

in the Hedge End 2000 Centre, St John's 
Road, Hedge End, SO30 4AF 

 
Your Council’s electronic news service - e-news - 

 
Register your email address free with the Council and keep up to date with what’s 
happening in the Borough.  Simply select your topics and we will send you email 

updates with news as it happens including new Council Jobs, What’s On, Recycling, 
Transport plus lots more. www.eastleigh.gov.uk/enews 

 

http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/enews


This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

HEDGE END, WEST END AND BOTLEY LOCAL AREA COMMITTEE 
 

Monday, 12 September 2016  (7:00 pm – 7:28 pm) 
 
PRESENT: 
 
Councillor Clarke (Chairman); Councillors Kyrle, Allingham, Bloom, 
Asman, Boulton, House, Garton, Norman and Tennent 
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Hall and Pretty 
 

________________________________________ 
 

RESOLVED ITEMS (SUBJECT TO QUESTIONS ONLY) 
 

1. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 
 
Mr Murden asked why charges were to be applied to Hampshire’s 
Household Waste Recycling Centres (HWRCs) on 1 October 2016 as that 
would encourage fly tipping. The Leader clarified that proposed charges at 
the HWRCs was a Hampshire County Council (HCC) decision and not a 
Borough Council one. From 1 January 2017 the Centres would open at the 
later time of 11am and not at all on Thursdays. The charges would be for 
soil, rubble, plasterboard and asbestos and full details could be found on 
the HCC website. He concurred with Mr Murden regarding the fly tipping, 
and added that it would be the Borough Council who would have to pick up 
the costs, not the County. 
 
Mr Murden asked a second question that referred to an article in the latest 
Borough News which reminded residents to collect their bins as soon as 
they could, to avoid them being left on the pavement which caused 
obstruction to pedestrians. He stated that vehicles also parked on the 
pavements and questioned what was being done to resolve this problem, 
especially in Upper and Lower St Helens Road. Mr Murden was advised 
that officers were aware of the problem with parked cars and it was being 
investigated. 
 

2. MINUTES 
 
RESOLVED - 
 
That the Minutes of the meeting held on 13 June 2016 be confirmed 
and signed by the Chairman as a correct record. 
 

3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
There were no declarations of interest in relation to items of business on 
the agenda. 

1

Agenda Item 2



2 
 

 
4. CHAIRMAN'S REPORT 

 
The Chairman reported the following: 
 
Boorley Green Working Group 
 
It had been agreed that a working group would be established to take 
forward the community aspects of the Boorley Green development. 
Councillor Kyrle and he would represent this Committee along with two 
Botley Parish Councillors and the Parish Clerk, two representatives from 
the developers’ consortium, the Borough Council’s Planning Officer and 
Area Co-ordinator. Once appointed, the Neighbourhood Worker would 
also join this group. The first meeting was on Monday 19 September when 
the full terms of reference for the group would be agreed. 
 
Hedge End Train Station 
 
The Chair was delighted to announce that the passenger shelter provision 
at the train station would be substantially improved following some 
excellent partnership working between South West Trains/Network Rail 
and the Borough Council. At this Committee’s meeting on 9 March 2015, 
Members allocated approximately £16,000 towards shelter enhancements 
and with £37,000 from the railway companies, there would be an 
additional canopy shelter on Platform 1 and an extension of the existing 
shelter. It was estimated that this would increase the sheltered area by 
40%. Work was expected to start in late October with a completion date in 
December 2016. 
 
Public Inquiry 
 
Members would recall that this Committee rejected a planning application 
for 100 dwellings on the Botley Road site, known locally as the 
Peacehaven Fields in West End. Following an appeal by developers, a 
public inquiry commenced on Monday 6 September and concluded on 
Friday 9 September 2016.  
 
Itchen Valley Country Park 
 
The Country Park had been awarded a Green Flag for the seventh year in 
a row. The Green Flag was a national award and standards of excellence 
in the management and maintenance of the Country Park had to be 
achieved in order to receive this award. The Chair congratulated the 
Borough Council’s Countryside staff and its team of volunteer rangers. 
Members would also be aware that following a recent team meeting, a 
new vision for Itchen Valley Country Park had been agreed. An update on 
future provision would be prepared for the next team meeting which would 
be held on Monday 31 October 2016. 
 

2



3 
 

Ageas Bowl Liaison Panel 
 
The annual meeting of the Panel would be held on Thursday 10 November 
2016 at the Ageas Bowl. A report would be prepared for this Panel which 
would review the cricketing season and the events that had been held at 
the Ageas Bowl. There would be a specific report about the Rod Stewart 
concert and also an update on the activities of the community trust. 
Members of the public were welcome to attend. 
 

5. AREA CO-ORDINATOR'S REPORT 
 
The Local Area Co-ordinator reported the following: 
 
Townhill Farm and Carpathia Close Play Areas 
 
Following the allocation of approximately £105,000 towards the two play 
areas in West End by this Committee, the remaining action was to seek 
Linden Homes’ approval to use these payments for these schemes, and it 
was reported that this approval had now been given. West End Parish 
Council would now progress these projects. 
 
Responses to residents’ and Councillors’ requests 
 
Walkways around Turnpike Way/back of NEXT superstore - residents 
requested that overhanging trees and shrubs were cut back to widen the 
walkways. This work had been completed. The uneven walkways had 
been reported to Hampshire County Council and an upgraded dual litter 
bin had been installed close to Wildern Nature Reserve.  
 
Botley Primary School – a new scooter storage had been installed at the 
School which was part funded by this Committee. The School had 
received a gold accreditation for its travel plan. 
 
Itchen Valley Country Park- a resident requested the installation of a 
radar key lock for the disabled toilet at the country park. This work had 
now been completed and it was hoped that this would reduce vandalism 
and increase accessibility.  
 
Speed limit reminders 

 
Speed limit reminders (SLRs) were very effective and therefore demand 
for them across Hedge End, West End and Botley was extremely high. 
This Committee recognised this demand when it purchased its own SLR a 
number of years ago to supplement the SLR provided by Hampshire 
County Council. Following comments from residents and in consultation 
with Members, the police and community speedwatch, the sites for the 
SLRs in 2016/17 had now been agreed. This year the SLRs would be 
rotated around 40 sites which was an increase of 7 sites compared to last 
year. 
 

3



4 
 

Hedge End, West End and Botley (HEWEB) Community Grants 2017 

 
Application forms would soon be available for the annual HEWEB 
Community Grants. A maximum of £500 could be awarded to community 
organisations and the Grants Panel would make recommendations to this 
Committee in January 2017.  
 
HEWEB Youth Partnership 
 
The next Partnership meeting was on 29 September 2016 at the King’s 
Community Church. The views of young people would be sought in order 
to inform the revised partnership plan which would be presented to this 
Committee for approval. 
 

6. FUNDING FOR LOCAL PROJECTS 
 
Consideration was given to the report of the Local Area Co-ordinator that 
recommended funding to support local projects which would meet local 
needs. The projects would also contribute to the achievement of corporate 
priorities. 
 
RESOVLED –  
 
(1) That the allocation of developers’ contributions totalling 

£12,000 as a contribution towards the cost of the play area at 
Greta Park be approved; 

 
(2) That the allocation of the developer’s contribution of £3,184.29 

for the entrance project at Itchen Valley Country Park be 
approved; 

 
(3) That the allocation of the developers’ contribution of 

£13,008.66 for the upgrade of the pathway adjacent to 
Cheltenham Gardens be approved; 
 

(4) That the expenditure of £30,000 from this Committee’s 
reserves for the public toilet project in West End be approved; 
 

(5) That the expenditure of up to £10,000 for a full condition 
survey of the Hedge End Youth Community Association 
building be approved;  and  
 

(6) That the allocation of the developer’s contribution of 
£55,312.80 towards preliminary works for the swimming pool 
roof project at Wildern Leisure Centre be approved. 

4



5 
 

 
7. NAMING OF STREETS DEVELOPMENT AT DOG KENNEL FARM, 

WEST END 
 
Consideration was given to the report of the Head of Transportation and 
Engineering that recommended the street name Telegraph Heights for a 
residential road off Telegraph Road, West End. 
 
RESOLVED -  
 
That the name Telegraph Heights be approved as a name for a new 
street at Dog Kennel Farm, West End. 
 

8. NAMING OF STREETS DEVELOPMENT AT BOORLEY GREEN, 
BOTLEY 
 
Consideration was given to the report of the Head of Transportation and 
Engineering that recommended the names Kingsman Drive, Wallace 
Avenue, Braxells Road, Sandy Field Way, Bushy Dene Road, Cross 
Avenue, Morley Lee Mews, Pearce Row, Baker Close, Dollery Close, 
Morant Crescent, Hilly Field Close, King Court, Lewry Close, Way Field 
Close, Kiln Row and Appleby Drive are approved as names for new 
streets at Boorley Green, Botley. 
 
RESOLVED -   
 
(1) That the names Kingsman Drive, Wallace Avenue, Braxells 

Road, Sandy Field Way, Bushy Dene Road, Cross Avenue, 
Morley Lee Mews, Pearce Row, Baker Close, Dollery Close, 
Morant Crescent, Hilly Field Close, King Court, Lewry Close, 
Way Field Close, Kiln Row and Appleby Drive be approved as 
names for new streets at Boorley Green, Botley; and 

 
(2) Members requested that all signs carried a notation why the 

names were chosen. 
 

9. NAMING OF STREETS DEVELOPMENT AT HATCH FARM, WEST END 
 
Consideration was given to the report of the Head of Transportation and 
Engineering that recommended the names Ash Drive, Maple Crescent, 
Elder Close and Hazel Close for approval as names for new streets at 
Hatch Farm, West End. 
 
RESOLVED –  
 
That the names Ash Drive, Maple Crescent, Elder Close and Hazel 
Close be approved as names for new streets at Hatch Farm, West 
End. 

5



6 
 

 
10. PLANNING APPEALS 

 
The Head of Legal and Democratic Services reported:- 
 
(a) that the following appeals had been lodged:- 
 

Appeal against the Council’s refusal of planning permission for the 
provision of a new roof with increased eaves height and front and 
rear dormers, two storey front extension to include excavation 
works to provide basement at 7 Maddoxford Lane, Botley (Ref: 
F/16/77816.) 
 
This was a Delegated Decision. 
 
Appeal against the Council’s refusal of planning permission for the 
provision of a pitched roof over existing flat roof garage to enlarge 
existing annexe accommodation at 45 High Street, Botley, 
Southampton (Ref: C/16/78194.) 
 
This was a Delegated Decision. 
 
Appeal against the Council’s refusal of planning permission to carry 
out works to protected trees at 5-9 Shamblehurst Lane, Hedge End 
(Ref: T/16/77827.) 
 
This was a Delegated Decision. 

 
(b) that the following appeal had been allowed:- 
 

Appeal against the Council’s refusal of planning permission for the 
erection of a pitched roof over an existing flat roof garage at The 
Shambles, 45 High Street, Botley (Ref: C/16/78194.) 
 
This was a Delegated Decision. 

 
(c) that the following appeals had been dismissed:- 
 

Appeal against the Council’s refusal of planning permission for a 2-
storey extension to the rear elevation and new pitched roof to front 
dormer at 8 Oatlands close, Botley (Ref: F/15/77543.). 
 
This was a Delegated Decision. 
 
Appeal against the Council’s refusal of planning permission for the 
construction of extensions to side and rear elevations, front and 
rear dormer windows, hip-to-gable enlargements, garage within 
front garden and new front wall and gates at 20 Moorgreen Road, 
West End (Ref: F/15/76902.) 
 

6



7 
 

This was a Delegated Decision. 
 
Appeal against the Council’s refusal of planning permission for the 
erection of a three bedroom detached bungalow and detached 
garage with associated car parking and amenity space at 82 St 
Johns Road, Hedge End (Ref: F/15/76948.) 
 
This was a Delegated Decision. 

 
Appeal against the Council’s refusal of planning permission for the 
construction of a detached dwelling at land adjacent to River 
Cottage, Hamblewood, Botley (Ref: C/15/76977.) 
 
This was a Delegated Decision. 
 
Appeal against the Council’s refusal of outline planning permission 
for the replacement of redundant agricultural buildings by two 
live/work units (B1/C3) at Croft Farm, Winchester Road, Botley 
(Ref: O/15/76894.) 
 
This was a Delegated Decision. 
 
Appeal against the Council’s refusal of planning application for the 
erection of an oak framed single-storey two bay garage at the front 
at 19 Oatlands Road, Boorley Green, Botley (Ref: F/15/77488.) 
 

This was a Delegated Decision. 
 
RESOLVED - 
 
That the report be noted. 
 

11. EXEMPT BUSINESS 
 
RESOLVED - 
 
(1) That, in pursuance of Section 100A(4) of the Local Government 

Act 1972, the press and public be excluded from the meeting 
for the following items of business on the grounds that they 
are likely to involve the disclosure of exempt information as 
defined in paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act; 
and 

 
(2) That, in pursuance of the public interest test, the public 

interest in disclosing the information contained in the 
following item of business was outweighed by the public 
interest in maintaining the exemption. 

7



8 
 

 
12. PROPERTY TRANSACTIONS 

 
Consideration was given to the report of the Head of Regeneration and 
Planning Policy regarding property transactions. 
 
RESOLVED -    
 
That the report be approved. 
 
 

8



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

HEDGE END, WEST END AND BOTLEY LOCAL AREA COMMITTEE  

Monday 7 November 2016 

DIVERSION OF PUBLIC FOOTPATH CYCLEWAY AT PAVILION 
ROAD, HEDGE END, AND DEDICATION OF NEW ROUTE 

                     
Report of the Head of Transportation and Engineering 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

It is recommended that authorisation be given for the processing of an Order under 
Section 257 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 for the diversion of a public 
footpath cycleway off Pavilion Road, Hedge End to a new alternative footpath cycleway 
route, as necessary to facilitate the construction of development that this Committee has 
resolved to permit planning permission for.  
 

Summary 
 
This Committee has resolved to permit planning permission, subject to Section 106 
conditions, on land crossed by an unnumbered, presumed dedicated public right of way. A 
Public Path Diversion Order is needed to formally close the existing presumed dedicated 
footpath cycleway and direct along a newly created alignment.  

Statutory Powers 
 
Section 257, Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 

 

Introduction 

1.   This Committee resolved to permit planning permission under application 
F/16/78015 for development of a residential care home off Pavilion Road, 
Hedge End on 13/06/2016. The proposed development is over the route of an 
existing unnumbered, presumed dedicated, public right of way which will need 
to be diverted to enable the development to be implemented. This public right 
of way is presumed dedicated and therefore does not appear on the definitive 
map. The new alternative route can be formally dedicated subject to further 
discussions with Hampshire County Council.  

          Procedure 

2. The procedure for re-routing a presumed dedicated public right of way where 
affected by development is by the making of a Public Path Diversion Order 
authorising closure of and re-routing of the path along an alternative alignment 
through the same Order. This legal process is undertaken by the Head of 
Legal and Democratic Services under Town and Country Planning Act 1990, 

9

Agenda Item 7



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

Section 257 which shall be overseen by the Head of Transport and 
Engineering. 

Consultation 

3.  This Committee has resolved to grant planning permission for the 
development in the knowledge that changes to the alignment of a public right 
of way will be needed as shown on the attached drawing. Consultations with 
Hedge End Town Council, The Ramblers Association, local Members and 
Hampshire County Council’s Rights of Way Section will be undertaken as part 
of the procedure involved in making a Public Path Diversion Order.  

4. Informal consultations were undertaken with the Ramblers Association and 
there were no public objections made to the proposed development on the 
grounds of it affecting public rights of way if suitable alternative routes are 
provided. 

 Financial Implications 

5.  There will be no costs for the Council. The developers will be required to meet 
the full costs of legal and administrative work by the Head of Legal and 
Democratic Services and Head of Transportation and Engineering, together 
with advertising cost and construction costs.     

Equality and Diversity Implications 

6. An equal opportunities assessment has not been carried out because the 
report does not contain proposals for significant changes to existing services, 
policies or strategies and does not introduce any new services, policies or 
strategies.   

Conclusion 

7. Committee has resolved to permit planning permission for development which 
will affect an unnumbered, presumed dedicated, public footpath cycleway off 
Pavilion Road, Hedge End. Authorisation to make an order to stop up the 
existing footpath cycleway and create the alternative route as shown on the 
attached drawing is recommended under Section 257 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990. Transportation and Engineering shall then 
engage with Hampshire County Council with a view to having the route 
adopted as a public highway.  

 
 
 

10



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

ED VOKES 

Head of Transportation and Engineering 
 
Date: 13/10/2016 
Contact Officer: Hayley Trower 
Tel No: 023 8068 8233 
e-mail: hayley.trower@eastleigh.gov.uk 
Appendices Attached: 1 No. Plan 
Report No: EN1268 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D 

The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this 
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material 
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works 
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information. 

None. 

 

11



This page is intentionally left blank



13



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 1 

HEDGE END, WEST END AND BOTLEY LOCAL AREA COMMITTEE 
 

Monday 7 November 2016 
 

FEES AND CHARGES  
 

Report of the Local Area Manager in consultation with Parking 
Services Manager 

 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
It is recommended that the Local Area Committee: 
 
1) Approves an  increase of 30p to the parking tariffs for Hedge End Station 

Car Park and Stroudley Way commencing from 6 February  2017 and that 
the Hedge End Station Car Park tariffs are fixed for two years; and  
 

2) Approves the Fees and Charges for Itchen Valley Country Park to come into 
effect on the 1 January 2017 and 6 February 2017 as outlined in this report.  

 

 

Purpose 
 
Fees and Charges for Council services are reviewed on a regular basis.  In 
accordance with the budget strategy approved by the Cabinet in October, fees and 
charges levied by the Council are being reviewed with the intention of increases 
being introduced with effect from January 2017 where possible.  Following a 
Cabinet decision in September 2012 a number of fees and charges are now to be 
set by Local Area Committees and these are the subject of this report.    
 
Statutory Power 
Section 151 of the 1972 Local Government Act 

Introduction 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to examine fully the effects of income received by 

the Council with regard to fees and charges levied for services that are the 
responsibility of Hedge End, West End and Botley Local Area Committee 
(LAC).  A minimum increase in yield of 2.6% for all fees and charges is 
recommended to be implemented from January 2017 where possible. 
 

2. Local Area Committees have the discretion to set fees for services devolved 
to their areas subject to compliance with the corporate target to generate an 
additional minimum yield from fees and charges of 2.6%.  
 

15

Agenda Item 8



 

 2 

Hedge End Station Car Park and Stroudley Way 
 

3. The car park charges at Hedge End Station Car Park and Stroudley Way 
were last increased on 2 February 2015, where the charge increased from 
£3.00 to £3.20 per day Monday to Friday, excluding bank holidays which are 
free of charge 
 

4. As members will recall there has been an extension to the station car park 
resulting in an extra 38 spaces and after public consultation, some of the 
surrounding roads have single or double yellow lines 
 

5. The usage/income of the car park has benefited from the increase in railway 
passengers and the car park extension. 
 

6. The current income has been monitored (1 April to 11 September 2016) 
against the budget figures and is listed below 

  
 Phased Budget Actual Variance 

Stroudley Way 1,616 1,157 (459) 

Hedge End Station 23,094 28,880 5,786 

Total 24,710 30,037 5,327 

 
7. The results confirm that the income levels are significantly over the current 

budget figure and are following a similar trend to the previous year which 
showed a surplus against the income budget of £20,450. 
 

8. The Parking Services Manager is confident that the yield of £54,570 from both 
sites can be achieved without resorting to increasing the current charges, as 
the yield required is £1,420.   
 

9. However, the Parking Services Manager has confirmed due to the expected 
increase in usage at the Hedge End Station Car Park that in the next 12 – 18 
months, there is strong possibility that the Car Park will reach its capacity. 
Therefore an increase of 30p is recommended which will assist in controlling 
the capacity of the car park. 

 
10. Members will need to carefully consider whether this increase in charges is 

likely to encourage more motorists to park nearby in those streets which are 
currently unrestricted. 
 

11. The proposed increase of 30p is estimated to generate additional income of 
£5,800 and the associated costs of changing the five ticket machines, signs, 
and advertising the changes is £1,180. 

  

16



 

 3 

Itchen Valley Country Park 
 

12. The Countryside Business Manager has recommended to increase the fees 
and charges for Itchen Valley Country Parks as follows: 
 

ITCHEN VALLEY COUNTRY PARK    

Itchen Valley Country Park 
Use of Bridle Route (Private) 

1 Jan 2016 
£ 

1 Jan 2017 Change 
% 

- Per horse 51.00 52.50 2.94 

- Additional horse 26.00 N/A N/A 

Use of Bridle Route (Schools) 1 Jan 2016 
£ 

1 Jan 2017 Change 
% 

- Per horse 72.50 75.00 3.45 

Barbeque Charges 1 Jan 2016 
£ 

1 Jan 2017 Change 
% 

Up to 60 people Monday – Thursday 42.50 44.00 3.53 

Up to 60 people Friday – Sunday 56.00 58.00 3.57 

Over 60 people Monday – Thursday 67.00 70.00 4.48 

Over 60 people Friday – Sunday 80.00 82.50 3.12 

School Parties 1 Jan 2016 
£ 

1 Jan 2017 Change 
% 

- Classroom hire 51.00 52.50 2.94 

- Equipment hire 27.20 28.00 2.94 

- Visit / Activity – Led by EBC Staff – per child 4.75 5.00 5.26 

General Guided Walks (Minimum Charge) 1 Jan 2016 
£ 

1 Jan 2017 Change 
% 

- Adults 3.50 3.60 2.86 

- Concessions 2.40 2.50 4.16 

Guided Walks / Activities for Groups on 
request 

1 Jan 2016 
£ 

1 Jan 2017 Change 
% 

- Charge per hour 33.75 34.75 2.96 

Play Schemes – Daily Charge (formerly 
weekly charge of £82 per week) 

1 Jan 2016 
£ 

1 Jan 2017 Change 
% 

– daily charge 22.00 23.00 4.54 

Hire of High Hill Field (Minimum Charge) 1 Jan 2016 
£ 

1 Jan 2017 Change 
% 

Charitable organisations    

- Up to 1,000 people 320.00 330.00 3.13 

- Over 1,000 people  590.00 610.00 3.39 

Non – Charitable Organisations    

- Up to 1,000 people 590.00 610.00 3.39 

- Over 1,000 people  1240.00 1500.00 17.33 

Room hire per hour (minimum charge 2 hours) 22.00 22.75 3.41 

Room Hire for Parties (Up to 5 hours) 50.00 51.50 3.00 

 
 
 
 
 

17



 

 4 

 

Itchen Valley Country Park – car park charges from 2nd February 2016 
 
 

Length of stay Under 1 hour 1 – 4 hours Over 4 hours 

Days Mon-Sun Inc BH 
£ 

Mon-Sun inc BH 
£ 

Mon-Sun inc BH 
£ 

Cars £1.00 
 (0%) 

£2.50 
(4.2%) 

£3.90 
(2.6%) 

Coaches £18.00 
(5.9%) 

£18.00 
(5.9%) 

£18.00 
(5.9%) 

Orange / Blue 
badges 

Free Free Free 

Motorcycles Free Free Free 

Annual Permits Full price: £41.00  Concessionary charges: not on 
offer  

6 monthly Permits £22.00 No concessionary charges 

Quarterly Permits £11.00 No concessionary charges  

 

Itchen Valley Country Park – car park charges from 6 February 2017 
 

Length of stay Under 1 hour 1 – 4 hours Over 4 hours 

Days Mon-Sun Inc BH 
£ 

Mon-Sun inc BH 
£ 

Mon-Sun inc BH 
£ 

Cars £1.10 (10%) £2.60(4%) £4.00(2.5%) 

Coaches £19.00 
5.5(%) 

£19.00 
5.5(%) 

£19.00 
5.5(%) 

Orange / Blue 
badges 

Free Free Free 

Motorcycles Free Free Free 

Annual Permits  £42.50 (3.66%)   

6 Monthly Permits £23.00 (4.55%)  

Quarterly Permits  £11.50 (4.55%) 
  

 

 
13. The overall increase is 4.2% for the fees and charges at Itchen Valley Country 

Park.  
 

14. It is estimated that the above increases would generate an additional yield of 
£3,570 in 2017/18. 

      

Risk Management 
 

15. The policy of increasing charges for services at a level of 1% above inflation 
as measured by RPIX is part of the Council’s approved Budget Strategy. 
There is a risk that proposed charges will not yield the overall anticipated 
2.6% additional income target for the budget but this will be monitored closely 
during the quarterly Corporate Budget Monitoring processes throughout the 
year. 

 

18



 

 5 

Equality and Diversity Implications 
 

16. Any service equality and diversity implications will have been considered by 
Heads of Service as part of their Service Planning processes.  There are no 
specific equality and diversity issues associated with this report which simply 
presents a summary of the fees and charges for all services within the Council 
in one report. 

 
Conclusion 
 

17. A review of the local area committee fees and charges has been undertaken 
and where possible the review reflects the budget requirement to achieve a 
2.6% increase in yield.  Where possible fees and charges will be increased 
with effect from January and February 2017. 

 
JULIA BIRT 

Local Area Manager – Hedge End, 
West End and Botley 

 
Report No:  FS527 
Date:   17 October 2016 
Contact Officer:  Mandy Nellthorpe  
Telephone:  023 8068 8082 
E-Mail:   mandy.nellthorpe@eastleigh.gov.uk 
Appendices:   nil 

 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 – SECTION 100D 

 
The following documents disclose facts or matters on which this report or an 
important part of it is based, and have been relied upon to a material extent in the 
preparation of this report – Nil. 

19



This page is intentionally left blank



 

HEDGE END, WEST END AND BOTLEY LOCAL AREA COMMITTEE 

Monday 7 November 2016 

COMMUNITY INVESTMENT PROGRAMME PRIORITIES IN HEDGE 
END, WEST END AND BOTLEY 

 
Report of the Local Area Manager in consultation with the Clerks to 

Hedge End Town Council, West End Parish Council and Botley 
Parish Council 

 

Recommendations 

It is recommended that this Committee:- 
 
(1) Notes that the Community Investment Programme (CIP) priorities for the 

Hedge End, West End and Botley areas have been reviewed; and  
 
(2) Approves the revised documents outlining CIP priorities for the period 2016 -

21 as shown in Appendix 1. 
 

Summary 
 
The Community Investment Programme (CIP) priorities for Hedge End, West End and 
Botley (HEWEB) have been reviewed in consultation with local stakeholders. Members are 
invited to endorse these local area priorities for the period of 2016 – 21.  
 
Statutory Powers 
 
Section 1 of the Localism Act 2011 
 

 

Introduction 

1. The Community Investment Programme priorities for 2016 – 20 were agreed 
by this Committee approximately 12 months ago and are currently shown on 
the Council’s website. Some of these priorities have been achieved and it is 
therefore timely to update these priorities and to include new projects. 

Consultation 

2. The priorities have been reviewed and updated after consulting a number of 
local partners including the Clerks from the Town and Parish Councils and 
local members; requests and comments from residents, formal groups such 

21

Agenda Item 9



 

as local associations and other constituted groups such as the Hedge End, 
West End and Botley Youth Partnership have also been taken into account. 

3. Although the priorities have been assigned to their geographical locations in 
Hedge End, West End and Botley, some of them have a strategic importance 
for the whole HEWEB area, for example at Wildern School, the Ageas Bowl 
etc. 

4. Reference has also been made to the Borough Council’s emerging local plan, 
Council priorities and strategies as shown in the appendices. 

Importance of CIP Priorities 
 
5. CIP priority lists may be used in negotiations with developers to secure 

appropriate and justifiable developers’ contributions which must be linked 
directly to the impact of any local development. They have been used 
extensively in recent planning inquiries. 
 

6. The revised list of local priorities will also be referred to in the development of 
the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) for the Borough of Eastleigh. 

7. It should be noted that a rolling Transport Schemes Inventory (TSI) is also 
maintained by the Council’s Transport and Engineering sections.  Members of 
this Committee are requested to approve the allocation of Developers’ 
Contributions on a regular basis and therefore the TSI is reported separately 
to the Committee. 

8. Eastleigh Borough Council’s Public Art Strategy and Programme has been 
adopted and a section of this relates to projects within the HEWEB area. 

Review of CIP priorities 

 
9. It is proposed that the priorities continue to be reviewed and updated after 

consultation with local stakeholders resulting in an annual report to be formally 
agreed by this Committee. 

Financial Implications 

 
10. An updated and evidence based CIP list is essential in order to justify 

requests for developers’ contributions. Investment in the local infrastructure 
and amenities would be severely restricted if not permanently lost, without this 
list. 

Risk Assessment 
 
11. There are no other risks associated with this report 

 

22



 

 
 
Equality and Diversity Implications 
 

12. An equal opportunities assessment has not been carried out because policy 
and service delivery are not affected by this report.  The identified projects will 
benefit the local community and some are of benefit to older and younger 
people. 

Conclusion 

13. Members are requested to review and approve the proposed CIP lists for 
Hedge End, West End and Botley for the period 0f 2016-21. 

    JULIA BIRT 

    Area Manager  

Date: 17 October 2016 
Contact Officer: Julia Birt 
Tel No: 023 8068 8437 
e-mail: Julia.birt@eastleigh.gov.uk 
Appendices Attached: 3 
Report No: AM915JB 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D 

The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this 
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material 
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works 
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information. 

None 

23



This page is intentionally left blank



REVISED Nov 2016 Appendix 1          

HEDGE END – COMMUNITY AND INFRASTRUCTURE PRIORITIES 2016-21  
 

1 

 

LOCATION PROPOSALS PRIORITY FUNDING 
REQUIRED(£) 

JUSTIFICATION/COMMENT 

 
HE.1  Wildern School Community 
Facilities 
 
 
 
 

i) i) Recreation Facilities  
 
 
 
 
           
 
 
                   
 
                                                
 
 
 
ii) Berry Theatre                  
                                               
 
                                               

 
HEWEB required to contribute to 
asset management of community 
facilities with the CMC 
 
 
 
Replace and upgrade Swimming 
pool roof  
Install spectator seating                  
          
 
 
Create a new all-weather football 
pitch                    
 
 
 
 
 
 
planned refurbishment ( 3- 5 
years)                                 
 
 
specialist equipment replacement 
                                  
 

 
H 
 
 
 
 
 
H 
 
H 
 
 
 
H 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
M 
 
 
 
M 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
570,000 estimate 
 
 TBC 
 
 
 
400,000 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Circa 50,000 
 
 
 
As per schedule 

 
Wildern (Academy) is a key partner in 
community provision providing local 
residents access to sports and 
recreation, performing arts, cinema 
and drama. 
 
Swimming pool roof upgrade is 
urgent. Swimming pools are well used 
by the local population and there is a 
thriving swimming club, Wildern 
Waves.  
 
Playing Pitch strategy shows that 
there is a shortfall of 13.15 hectares 
of playing pitches in the local 
community 
 
 
 
 
A successful local theatre with 
growing community audiences. 
 
 
Review and upgrade specialist 
equipment (3-5yrs). 
 
 

25



REVISED Nov 2016 Appendix 1          

HEDGE END – COMMUNITY AND INFRASTRUCTURE PRIORITIES 2016-21  
 

2 

 

LOCATION 
 
 

PROPOSALS PRIORITY FUNDING 
REQUIRED(£) 

JUSTIFICATION/COMMENT 

HE.2 Youth Centre - Wildern Lane 
“The Box”                               
                                                                
                      
 
  Transport for youth   

Youth centre - capital 
contribution to equipping/ 
fitting out a multi purpose café 
and outdoor area.     
 
Youth Mini – bus                              

H 
 
 
 
 
L 

10,000 additional/ 
fittings/equipment 
replacement  
 
 
25,000 

Improving provision for young people 
is a high priority.  
 
 
“Street talk” mini bus devolved to 
HETC in spring 2012. Joint funding to 
be discussed with the HEWEB Youth 
partnership. 

HE.3  Hedge End Library       
 

Extend library with improved 
provision for community, stock 
expansion and enlarged children’s 
area                                                     
                                  

H 700,000 (tbc) 
 

Desirable that library provision is 
expanded in line with local housing 
and population growth.  Currently 
library inadequate and too small 
though improved facilities, self - 
scanners and volunteers have 
increase opening hours since 2012. 

HE.4  Drummond Community 
Centre – improvements               
                                                 
                                                   
 
Upgrade car parking                  
Surface and lighting       
 
 
 
             

a) Improve community facilities - 
new floor and kitchen required   
 
 
 
b) Renew play area – 2020            
c) Resurfacing of car park             
d) Lighting of car park                    
 

H 
 
 
 
 
L 
L 
L 
 

55,000 (floor) 5,000 
(kitchen) 
 
 
 
60,000 
100,000 
10, 000 

Nearby Dowd’s Farm and Grange Park 
residents demand this building is 
maintained as a high quality asset. 
Owned by HETC.   
 
Improved facilities/exterior lighting,    
                             

26



REVISED Nov 2016 Appendix 1          

HEDGE END – COMMUNITY AND INFRASTRUCTURE PRIORITIES 2016-21  
 

3 

 

LOCATION PROPOSALS PRIORITY FUNDING 
REQUIRED(£) 

JUSTIFICATION/COMMENT 

HE.5  Hedge End Village Hall 
St Johns Road  & car park        
  

Incremental improvements 
desirable to building.                    
                         

L 
 
 

 2,000 Managed by Voluntary Trustees  
Need to write an asset management 
plan. 
 

HE.6   Hedge End Youth & 
Community Association (HEYCA)  
                                                

Former school building, upgrade 
equipment and refurbish.               
                         
 

H 
 
 

160,000 (estimate) 
 
 

Independently managed grade 2 
building but owned by HETC.  Popular 
facility despite the condition of the 
facility. 
A prioritised plan required from 
Trustees and HETC.  
Improve community safety and 
identify energy efficiency measures. 
 

HE.7 Rolling programme of local 
improvements to public access.  
 
                                                                
                                    

Upgrade kissing gates/access to 
public open space, community  
halls and key footpath routes 
                                                    

M/H Dependent on project 
appraisal 
 
 
 
 
 

Equality of access for all sectors of 
community is a local priority. Many 
local assets devolved to HETC.  
Community buildings where 
investment would benefit 
disabled/elderly residents. 
 

HE.8 Dowd’s Farm/Grange Park 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

A Paddling Pool to serve the 
northern part of Hedge End 

H Feasibility study to be 
undertaken to 
consider location, 
parking and viability 

Identified as a main project by Hedge 
End Town Council’s (HETC) Strategy 
Committee - Sept 2015. 

27



REVISED Nov 2016 Appendix 1          

HEDGE END – COMMUNITY AND INFRASTRUCTURE PRIORITIES 2016-21  
 

4 

 

LOCATION 
 
 
 

PROPOSALS PRIORITY FUNDING 
REQUIRED(£) 

JUSTIFICATION/COMMENT 

 
 
HE.9 Norman Rodaway Pavilion and 
Recreation Ground               
                                                
 
 
                                                   
 
                                                   
                                                  

 
 
Improve Pavilion facilities for 
community users and spectators.  
 a. Main Hall  
b. Acoustic ceiling  
c. Kitchen  
                                                    
       
 
Improvements to changing rooms 
designated for football                    
                                                     
Play area renewal 2019/20             
   
Consider floodlighting pitches/car 
park                                                     
    

 
 
M 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
H 
 
 
M 
 
L 
 
 
 
 

 
 
30,000 
5,000 
5,000 
 
 
 
 
 
60,000 
  
 
60,000 
 
98,000  

 
 
A well managed facility owned by 
HETC.  There is clear need and 
opportunity to extend/improve 
community provision on this site. 
Refurbish community building directly 
managed by HETC. 
 
 
 
 
Improve facilities for Hedge End 
Rangers FC 
 
Play area is in strategic location 
 
Consider car park lighting – 
Link to major recreation ground 
project HE 22(A)  with spectator 
facilities and floodlit ground 
 
 
 

 

28



REVISED Nov 2016 Appendix 1          

HEDGE END – COMMUNITY AND INFRASTRUCTURE PRIORITIES 2016-21  
 

5 

 

 

LOCATION PROPOSALS PRIORITY FUNDING 
REQUIRED(£) 

JUSTIFICATION/COMMENT 

OPEN SPACE/INFRASTRUCTURE 

HE.10  Locke Road Play area/ 
Open space    
                               

Renew play area 2018/19           H 85,000 Important strategic play facility 
 

HE.11 Woodhouse Lane  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                

Skate park, youth area and bowls 
facilities -  
Continuous enhancement of 
youth area/ facilities and 
skateboarding desirable             

 
 
M 

Ongoing project  
45,000 minimum  

Second phase completed in 2011 with 
skateboard area enlarged – further 
improvements to this area are 
required. 
Further enhancements in consultation 
with HEWEB Youth Partnership and 
HETC.  Funding for drainage and 
mounds approved in 2015. 

HE.12  Turnpike Way Recreation 
Ground/ Wildern Nature  
Reserve                                                  
          

a) Upgrade pavilion car park        
b) Enhance walks, informal areas 
in adjacent nature reserve              
c) Play area renewal 2017            
d) Cricket pitch                                

M 
 
M 
H 
H 

100,000 
 
10,000 
60,000* 
TBA 

Turnpike Way Recreation Ground and 
the adjacent nature reserve are major 
community assets which need 
continuous upgrading and 
enhancement.  Directly managed by 
HETC. 
Play area - current location is often 
flooded. HETC considering relocation 
or improved drainage. 
 
Playing pitch strategy recommends a 
performance quality standard 
assessment is carried out so that any 
improvements can be identified. 
 

29



REVISED Nov 2016 Appendix 1          

HEDGE END – COMMUNITY AND INFRASTRUCTURE PRIORITIES 2016-21  
 

6 

 

LOCATION PROPOSALS PRIORITY FUNDING 
REQUIRED(£) 

JUSTIFICATION/COMMENT 

HE.13  Greta Park Improvements 
                                                 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

a) Improve/upgrade youth   
facilities.                                          
b) Enhance landscaping of 
parklands.  Revise layout of 
pitches and increase provision by 
improved drainage.                      
 
 
c) Upgrade changing rooms         
 

M 
 
M 
 
 
 
 
 
H 

120,000 
Rolling programme 
 
 
 
 
 
 
50,000 

Greta Park is an important focal point 
for formal/informal recreation. 
Opportunities to upgrade youth 
facilities already taken. Park managed 
by Hedge End Town Council.  It is the 
‘Town Park’ and benefits the whole 
Council area. 
Recommendations from Playing Pitch 
Strategy support proposals) 
Consider upgrade of changing rooms 
with library project. 

HE.14 Grange Park Greenway – 
Linear route adjacent to railway line 
and through to Locke Rd      

Upgrade footpaths/signage on 
informal walkers route                 

H 20,000 - 40,000 Opportunity to create ‘Green 
Corridor’ managed to promote 
biodiversity. 
Northern sector transferred to HETC 
in 2010. 
 

 

30



REVISED Nov 2016 Appendix 1          

HEDGE END – COMMUNITY AND INFRASTRUCTURE PRIORITIES 2016-21  
 

7 

 

 

LOCATION PROPOSALS PRIORITY FUNDING REQUIRED 
(£) 

JUSTIFICATION/COMMENT 

COMMUNITY SAFETY 

HE.15 'Community Safety' 
Initiatives 
 
 
                                                

Improve pedestrian routes 
(particularly to local schools/ 
shopping centres and public 
amenities)                                          
  
Defensive planting and improved 
lighting of key routes.                   
 

H 
 
 
 
 
M 

250,000 approx. 
 
 
 
 
Cost dependent on site 
appraisal 

Community Safety a high priority - 
funds will enable additional street 
lights/safer paths/road crossing 
points/landscape 
improvement/fencing to be installed.  
CCTV extension to Town Centre. 
Footpath priorities-Bursledon Road/St. 
John’s Road/Chapel Drove/Grenada 
Road/ St. Catherine’s Hill. 

 

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPROVEMENTS 

HE.16  Hedge End Town Centre  
 
 

Major environmental 
improvements. Regeneration of 
shopping/retail environment         
Hard/soft landscaping. 
Street scene enhancements. 
CCTV extensions  
 
Upgrade public toilets                     
       
 

H 
 
 
 
 
 
 
H 

880,000  
 
 
 
 
 
 
80 - 100,000 
(estimated cost but 
dependent on location 
and design) 

Regeneration of Town Centre a local 
priority.  Which maybe development 
lead. 
In 2016, develop strategy in 
consultation with HCC, HETC and 
Traders with a phased approach. 
 
HETC has identified improvements to 
the town centre’s public toilets as a 
major project. UNDER REVIEW 
 
 

HE.17 Aspen Close and adjacent 
woodland                                    
   
                                                   

a) small play area consider 
renewal 2019                                 
 

M 
 
 

40,000 
 
 

Devolved to HETC in 2000.  Play area 
renewed in 2008. 
 

31



REVISED Nov 2016 Appendix 1          

HEDGE END – COMMUNITY AND INFRASTRUCTURE PRIORITIES 2016-21  
 

8 

 

LOCATION 
 

PROPOSALS PRIORITY FUNDING REQUIRED 
(£) 

JUSTIFICATION/COMMENT 

HE.18 Westward Road                     Play area and open space 
consider renewal 2020                 
 

M 60,000 Devolved to HETC in 2000, play area 
renewed 2008. 

HE.19 Beattie Rise                       
 
                                                    
 
 

a) Play area renewal/extension 
2019                                                
b) Improve balance 
pond/landscaping                         
c) Review youth facilities 2016  
                                                     
 

M 
 
M 
 
M/H 

65,000 
 
30,000 
 
TBA 

Open space with balance pond, youth 
shelter, kickabout area and play area 
Popular local recreation ground. 
HEWEB Youth Partnership Plan. 

HE.20 St John’s Recreation Ground  
                                        
                                                    

a) Renew play area 2020-22       
b) Upgrade paddling pool         
c) Replacement of Paddling pool 
        seating/picnic area                
d)  Improvement to open space 
facilities                                              
              

L 
M 
 
M 
M 
 

85,000 
Circa 80,000 
 
3,000 
5,000 

A very popular recreation ground 
managed by HETC. 
 

HE.21 Nelson Gardens play area  
                                                    

Renew play area - 2019                   
                                                            
   

M 60,000 Well used play area. Fire damage in 
2014. 
 

 

32



REVISED Nov 2016 Appendix 1          

HEDGE END – COMMUNITY AND INFRASTRUCTURE PRIORITIES 2016-21  
 

9 

 

 

HEDGE END – PROJECTS DEPENDENT ON DEVELOPMENT 

LOCATION PROPOSALS PRIORITY FUNDING REQUIRED 
(£) 

JUSTIFICATION/COMMENT 

HE.22  Woodhouse Lane 
Development 
 
 
 
 
HE.22(A)  New Recreation Ground - 
Hedge End (access from Botleigh 
Lakeside or Woodhouse Lane) 
Strategic development – to be 
directly managed by HETC        

a) New recreation ground 
b) Community facilities 
c) School 
d) Landscaping/sewerage 
e) Highways improvements         
 
Major strategic Project to acquire 
and layout open space - 
particularly for recreation/ 
Football/rugby on site at rear of 
Berrywood School.                            
 

H 
 
 
 
 
 
H 

TBC 
 
 
 
 
 
920,000 pavilion 
300,000 access/car 
park 
600,000 ground works 
sports infrastructure 
 

Local Plan. HCC land ownership.  
 
 
 
 
Hedge End has reportedly 13.15 
hectares shortfall of recreation land.   
Confirmed by the new Playing Pitches 
Strategy. 
(Phase I enclose HCC land from Kings 
Copse School transfer known as 
Berrywood Meadows.  Fencing, 
upgraded access with height barriers 
and gates).  
 

HE.23 Land south of Foord Road a) Pedestrian & cycle links 
b) Highway improvements 
c) Sewerage/drainage                   

 

H Funded as part of 
planning agreement 

Application approved. 

HE.24 Household Waste Recycling 
Centre, Shamblehurst Lane 

Possible relocation of the 25th 
Scout Group                                     

H TBC If this development occurs, there may 
be a requirement for suitable long 
term local provision for the scouts. 
 

HE.25 Home Farm, St. John’s Road
  

Transfer of woodland into public 
ownership    

H Under negotiation  

SEE SEPARATE INVENTORY FOR PEDESTRIAN, CYCLING, MOTORISED TRANSPORT SCHEMES/PUBLIC ART STRATEGY 

33



T
his page is intentionally left blank



REVISED Nov 2016 Appendix 2         

 

WEST END – COMMUNITY AND INFRASTRUCTURE PRIORITIES 2016 - 2021  
         

1 
 

PROJECT/LOCATION PROPOSAL FUNDING 
REQUIRED (£) 

PRIORITY JUSTIFICATION/COMMENT 

SOCIAL & RECREATIONAL 

WE.1 West End Parish 
Centre 

Installation of Biomass boiler and 
associated landscaping            

100,000 M Reduction in energy costs. Enables extension to 
kitchen - see WE.2 
 

WE.2 West End Parish 
Centre 

Kitchen extension - Main Hall               
                                                             

80,000 M Current facility too small for functions. Extension 
would result in increased usage. 

WE.3 Hilldene Centre      
     

Upgrade facilities; improve access 
particularly for elderly and disabled.  
(rated as per Association’s schedule) 
                                                            
External renovation to include new 
windows and modifications to car 
parking.       
                                            

35,000 
 
 
 
Windows  
46,000 
Car parks  
90,000 

H 
 
 
 

H 
 

H 

Highly successful community centre (old school 
building) requiring a series of minor capital works to 
enable upgrade.  
Well-planned and prioritised schedule produced by  
Management Committee of Hilldene Community 
Association. – separate document 
Strategic priority for WEPC – lead partner 
Part of traffic review  
 

WE.4 Townhill Farm 
Community Centre  

Upgrade of toilets and internal 
decoration in the foyer                          
                    
 
 
 

6,000 
 
 

 

H Centre is the only community focal point serving the  
western side of the Parish.  Excellent community 
programme .Directly managed by WEPC 
Strategic priority for WEPC – lead partner 
Funding for exterior improvements to guttering and 
fascia                                               
Asset Management Plan to be developed. 
 

35



REVISED Nov 2016 Appendix 2         

 

WEST END – COMMUNITY AND INFRASTRUCTURE PRIORITIES 2016 - 2021  
         

2 
 

PROJECT/LOCATION PROPOSAL FUNDING 
REQUIRED (£) 

PRIORITY JUSTIFICATION/COMMENT 

WE.5 Youth 
zone/children’s play 
area/community 
facilities. Hatch Farm 
development. 
 

Improve youth/children’s 
play/MUGA/community facilities and 
drainage.  
Consider skate park. 
To include bike trail linked to open 
space and Hatch Farm development.  
                                                                 

TBC H Growing population in the area.  Need to provide 
more facilities for youth recreation and informal 
leisure. 
Links to Barnsland OS as part of approved Hatch Farm 
brief 2012.  
 

WE.6 Moorgreen Road 
Recreation Ground and 
the ‘Youthouse’.  
 

Upgrade community facilities in 
Youthouse.   
 
 
             
- Upgrade soffits/guttering                   
- Play area upgrade                     
-  Tennis Court renewal                         
-  Path links for Moorgreen    
Road/Recreation Ground/Moorgreen 
development and Doctors’ Surgery 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
9,000 
60,000 
21,000 
57,000 
 
TBC 

 
 
 
 
 

H 
L 
H 
H 
 

H 
 
 

Continuos improvements desirable.  Increase range 
of equipment and facilities but minimise potential 
conflict between near neighbours.  Managed by West 
End Parish Council. 
Thriving youth club which needs room to expand. 
 
Play area due for complete renewal by 2020. 
Routes linked in development brief 
Registered as TSI 678 for Moorgreen Road to junction 
of Botley Road. 
Shared pathway in front of the Doctors’ surgery. 
Moorgreen development has an allocation for 

‘improved pedestrian facilities between the site and 
local schools’. 
 
 

36



REVISED Nov 2016 Appendix 2         

 

WEST END – COMMUNITY AND INFRASTRUCTURE PRIORITIES 2016 - 2021  
         

3 
 

PROJECT/LOCATION PROPOSAL FUNDING 
REQUIRED (£) 

PRIORITY JUSTIFICATION/COMMENT 

WE.7 Cutbush Lane 
Recreation Ground 
 

Upgrade of Pavilion or provision of 
storage for outside equipment  
 

52,000 
 
 

H Pavilion managed by WEPC and recently upgraded to 
accommodate Chartwell Youth Club. Continued 
upgrade of Pavilion or storage in line with changing 
users. 
 

WE.8 West End Library Talking Books/Large Print/Early Years 
book stock – visually impaired/ 
elderly and young persons 
 

2,500 M Growing population of elderly residents requiring 
extended choice of library materials. 

WE.9 Play Area near 
Harbourne Gardens 

Extension of area                                  10,000 M Requires local consultation - multi - use area with 
picnic tables? 

WE.10 Ageas Bowl Community projects as specified in 
master plan 
 

TBC H Major extension to the Poseidon Boxing Club facilities 
in 2015 
NB. A master plan for the site is being developed to 
further extend this community hub. 

 

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPROVEMENTS 

LOCATION PROPOSAL FUNDING 
REQUIRED (£) 

PRIORITY JUSITFICATION/COMMENT 

WE.11  Village Centre 
Environmental 
Improvements/ 
Community 
Safety/Toilets 
 

Phase 2 upgrade of shopping zone  
 
Public toilets                                          

85,000 max 
 
60,000 + 
installation 

H 
 

H 

Continuous improvement to shopping zone and 
infrastructure required. WEPC priority - A well - used 
location in close proximity to a large number of 
houses. 
Public toilets are closed due to condition and WEPC 
request upgraded facilities located at the Parish 
Centre. 

37



REVISED Nov 2016 Appendix 2         

 

WEST END – COMMUNITY AND INFRASTRUCTURE PRIORITIES 2016 - 2021  
         

4 
 

 

LOCATION PROPOSAL FUNDING 
REQUIRED (£) 

PRIORITY JUSITFICATION/COMMENT 

WE.12 Community 
Safety Initiatives – Safe 
routes 

Improve pedestrian routes 
(particularly to local 
schools/shopping centres and public 
amenities).                                            

80,000 M Community safety a high local priority.  Funds will 
enable additional street lights/safer paths/road 
crossing points/landscape improvements, fencing 
and barriers to be installed. Townhill to be included 
as well as the High Street. 
Plan will be informed partly by HCC and EBC’S traffic 
studies. 

 

WE.13 Cutbush 
Lane/Townhill Farm 

Improve street lighting,  
Repaint barriers, hedge 
planting/fencing                                      

17,600 
21,000 

M 
H 

Phased programme of improvement in response to 
resident’s petition and police concerns. 
 
 

WE.14 Old Fire 
Station/Museum 

Upgrade Museum in accordance with 
asset management plan. External 
decoration and repair including 
replacement windows/doors.               
         

42,000 H Prominent building – part on Conservation area. 
Base for well-established Local History society. 
 

WE.15 Additional 
Street Lighting 
 

Improve illumination of 
footpaths/key routes.                         

900 per street 
light 

M Incremental improvements to key areas desirable – 
subject to PFI contract. 
Police concerned at lighting levels particularly around 
communal car parks/district centres. 
 

38



REVISED Nov 2016 Appendix 2         

 

WEST END – COMMUNITY AND INFRASTRUCTURE PRIORITIES 2016 - 2021  
         

5 
 

 

OPEN SPACE PROJECTS 

LOCATION PROPOSAL FUNDING 
REQUIRED (£) 

PRIORITY JUSTIFICATION/COMMENT 

WE.16 Telegraph Wood Improve/upgrade footpaths and 
access especially for those with 
disabilities                                    

15,000 H £15,000 required to continue phase 3 works.  
Ongoing project to include tree clearance. 
 

WE.17 West End Copse 
/Chartwell Copse 

Construct new pond habitat with 
public access.   
                                    
Improve accessibility especially via 
upgraded footpaths 

16,000  
 
 
20,000 

L 
 
 

H 

Devolved to WEPC in 2012. 
Work to restore water levels and enhance bankside 
Vegetation. 
Path network needs to be upgraded. Currently taking 
advice from Countryside Agency. 
 

WE.18 Hilldene Way  Adopt open space and create 
footpath link to cemetery. 

10,000 M Copsed area adjacent to public footpath 19.  Seek 
transfer to EBC as developer went out of business. 
Head of DM investigating transfer of land to West 
End PC (adjacent to cemetery).  Need to note EBC 
interest with Land Registry. 
Feasibility study can then be conducted. 
 

 

 

 

39



REVISED Nov 2016 Appendix 2         

 

WEST END – COMMUNITY AND INFRASTRUCTURE PRIORITIES 2016 - 2021  
         

6 
 

 

LOCATION PROPOSAL FUNDING 
REQUIRED (£) 

PRIORITY JUSTIFICATION/COMMENT 

WE.19 Itchen Valley 
Country Park - 
Responsibility for the 
Country Park is devolved 
to HEWEB (Green Flag 
awarded annually since 
2009) priorities at the 
time of writing. 
Committee report to 
follow in 2017 
 

High Barn facilities and related public 
areas: 
Develop new catering area(s) and car 
parks.                                                  
 

 
 
 
TBC 

 
 
 

H 

Feasibility study in progress/Detailed 
feasibility/business case to be developed once 
complete.  
Need to increase revenue streams – particularly 
catering. 

 

Enhancements to Outdoor 
educational areas. 
                                                      

14,000 H Greater provision for visiting schools and groups to 
appreciate and enjoy outdoor environmental 
education.  Further development of Forest school 
project infrastructure. 
 

Outdoor public areas - rolling 
programme of renewal and upgrade 
of smaller scale infrastructure 

20,000 M Retention of Green Flag status requires continuous 
improvement. 

High Barn childrens play area.  
Replace in 2022.                                        

£44,000 L Popular facility - part of feasibility study. 

High Field play area  - Upgrade in 
2020 

60,000 M Promoting active children’s play.  A ‘Green Flag’ 
priority to keep this play area in top condition. 
 

Renewal of play trail                             £5,000 per 
annum 

H Rolling programme of replacement/upgrade. 
 

Waymarked Trails  16,000 
 
 

H Improvements to woods and meadows trail and 
honeysuckle trail as “easy going” trails with all-year 
access. 

40



REVISED Nov 2016 Appendix 2         

 

WEST END – COMMUNITY AND INFRASTRUCTURE PRIORITIES 2016 - 2021  
         

7 
 

Maps/interpretive panels/signage 
.                         
 
New l entrance feature for Park           
                                            

5,000 - 10,000 
 
 
 
4,000 

H 
 
 
 
 

H 

Information/interpretation panels.  Linked to ‘Green 
Flag’ status. 
 
Appropriate for entrance to Green Flag Country Park. 
Gateway public arts project also under consideration 
 

 Extend licensed bridle route to 
connect to new public access via 
Hogwood Lane                                      

30,000 M Project would not be required until new route from 
Allington Lane to IVCP boundary via Hogwood Lane 
established. Routes under discussion with the British 
Horse Society 
 

WE.20 Epona Trust Paddocks for Epona Trust gates/ 
water/signage.                                      
 
 

7,000 H Enable licence to be issued to Epona Trust.  Funds to 
underwrite cost of infrastructure. (Hatch Farm 
development) 
 

WE.21 Moorgreen 
Meadows 
Conservation/Nature 
area 

Fencing adjacent to Tollbar Way.  
Public footpath waymarkers 
interpretive panels   
enhancements/gates/bridges             

26,000 H Phase 1 works completed – adjacent to Dowd’s Farm 
development - £8,500. 
Phase 2 longer term enhanced management - 
£15,500 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

41



REVISED Nov 2016 Appendix 2         

 

WEST END – COMMUNITY AND INFRASTRUCTURE PRIORITIES 2016 - 2021  
         

8 
 

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPROVEMENTS 
 

LOCATION PROPOSAL FUNDING 
REQUIRED (£) 

PRIORITY JUSTIFICATION/COMMENT 

WE.22 Disabled Access 
Routes 

Key routes requested by wheelchair 
users.                                                      

20,000 - varies 
per route 

H Townhill Way 
Telegraph Road – Hilldene Centre 
Hilldene Centre – St James Church 

West End Road 
Lower New Road 

 

WE.23 Public seating 
and street scene 

Create new public seating areas with 
bins on key routes in and around 
village centre and Parish                      

12,000 
(estimate 1,000 
per site) 

H Elderly/disabled persons and resident keen that 
seating be provided on key routes.   
Promote health walking – linked to 
West End Parish Plan. 
 

WE.24 Parish footpath 
network 

Upgrade  access with footpaths  
upgrade /signage ( priority    
cemetery/burial road and links to 
Barnsland area                             

Circa 26,000 M/H Parish footpath network should be upgraded and 
extended to DDA standards. Particular priority 
around Cemetery/Burial 
Ground and Barnsland routes and Upper New Road. 
 
 
 
 

 

SEE SEPARATE INVENTORY FOR PEDESTRIAN, CYCLING, MOTORISED TRANSPORT SCHEME AND PUBLIC ART STRATEGY 
 
NB These priorities have been developed in consultation with West End Parish Council, Hampshire County Council and local organisations. Details of the Parish 
Plan can be found in a separate document. 

42



REVISED Nov 2016 Appendix 3          

 
BOTLEY - COMMUNITY AND INFRASTRUCTURE PRIORITIES 2016 - 21 

1 

 

 

PROJECT/LOCATION PROPOSAL PRIORITY FUNDING 
 REQUIRED (£) 

JUSTIFICATION/COMMENT 

SOCIAL & RECREATIONAL PROJECTS 

B.1 Botley Market Hall (Listed building 
run by a charitable trust)  

 - replacement windows 
-  PV panels 
-  energy efficient heating 
 - clock and tower renovation 
               

H 
M 
M 
H 

9,000 
TBC 
TBC 
12,000 
 

UPVC 
PV panels feasibility study required 
Subject to building survey 
Asset Management Plan is being updated and 
will be referred to for future projects 

B.2 Entrance to Lovers Lane/Four Acre Upgrade entrance area/signage     
            
Footway improvements               

H 
 

H 

11,300 
 
7,000  
 

Upgrade surface; popular local walking route 
requires public footpath signage. 
Shared project with HCC - rights of way 

B.3 Kings Copse Avenue 
Corridor/Havendale area 

Environmental/Community Safety 
improvements. Safer footpath 
routes.                                                
                                        

M 80,000 
 
 

Scope for improving street scene and ensuring 
safe routes to school recommendations 
are integrated. 
NOTE: Botley Parish Council request a reduction 
in the speed limit for Kings Copse Avenue to 
30mph. 

B.4(A) Botley Centre – car park 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Extend current car park by 
minimum of 8 spaces resurface 
and mark out bays                            
       
 
 
 

H 
 
 
 
 
 
 

40,000 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Car parking capacity under considerable pressure 
due to extensive community use. Park and Stride 
facility. 
Recently relined by Parish Council but still 
overcrowded 
 
 

43



REVISED Nov 2016 Appendix 3          

 
BOTLEY - COMMUNITY AND INFRASTRUCTURE PRIORITIES 2016 - 21 

2 

 

PROJECT/LOCATION PROPOSAL PRIORITY FUNDING 
 REQUIRED (£) 

JUSTIFICATION/COMMENT 

B.4(B)i  Mortimer Road - car park 
 
 
 
B.4(B)ii Mortimer Road - toilet block 
 
 

Improve aspect to front onto High 
Street gateway/fencing/landscape 
scheme 
 
Demolish and create extra car 
parking spaces 

H 
 
 
 

M 

10,000 include 
dropped kerbs 
 
 
65,000 

 
 
 
 
Toilet block has been closed for 8/9 years. 
Shortage of car parking in Botley village and for 
Botley Recreation Ground. Extra car parking 
spaces would also be used for Park and Stride at 
Botley Primary School. 
 
 

B.5 Botley Centre All Weather Pitches Surface replacement. Anticipated 
2020                                             

L Estimated 
total cost 
50,000 

Well used recreational asset with proven 
programme of community use. BPC has a sinking 
fund from any surplus income. 
 

B.6 Sports Pitches Creation of additional junior/adult 
pitches provision. Drainage 
improvements.                                

M TBC Successful recreation strategies have created 
demand.  
Review land use at Little Hatts. EBC Playing Pitch 
Strategy reveals a small deficit in junior playing 
pitches in Hedge End, West End and Botley. 
 

B.7 Dual use pavilion for cricket and 
football - Botley Recreation Ground 

New pavilion/store/lounge/ 
kitchen and scoreboard.                  
             

M 196,000 Upgraded pavilion will provide year round 
benefits. Refer to EBC Playing Pitch Strategy. 

 

 

 

44



REVISED Nov 2016 Appendix 3          

 
BOTLEY - COMMUNITY AND INFRASTRUCTURE PRIORITIES 2016 - 21 

3 

 

 

 

 

 
COMMUNITY SAFETY 

    

LOCATION PROPOSAL PRIORITY FUNDING 
REQUIRED (£) 

JUSTIFICATION/COMMENT 

B.8 Botley Square/Village Centre CCTV 
system 

Current partnership with Co-op 
and traders for local system to 
monitor square. 
  

M £15,000 – 
local system 
renewal 

Review of crime figures and discussions with 
local Police to take place on an annual basis to 
justify system upgrade and/or extension. 

B.9 Improve informal Youth Provision Youth shelters, designation of 
areas for young people to meet – 
enhanced skateboarding, cycling, 
informal recreation provision.         
 

H 32,000 Address residential/parish concerns on diverting 
youths from nuisance/vandalism.   
Specific project under consideration is the 
upgrade of the small skate ramp at the 
Recreation Ground; built in 2004. 
 

B.10 Restrict access to open 
spaces/recreation ground/Pudbrook 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Review and implement measures 
to prevent travellers / joy riding 
vehicles. (High quality measures 
could include heritage style 
bollards / shin rails / public 
seating).                                     
 

H 15,000 Police advise ongoing threat of travellers and joy 
riding throughout southern parishes. 
Sites include Nursesland, Recreation Ground, 
Little Hatts, Pudbrook and Cheping Gardens 

45



REVISED Nov 2016 Appendix 3          

 
BOTLEY - COMMUNITY AND INFRASTRUCTURE PRIORITIES 2016 - 21 

4 

 

 

LOCATION PROPOSAL PRIORITY FUNDING 
REQUIRED (£) 

JUSTIFICATION/COMMENT 

B.11 Botley Village Centre  Maintain attractiveness of village 
centre specifically with an 
upgrade of the street scene in 
Botley Square.     
Environmental improvements to 
reduce fear and threat of crime.  
Measures to reduce air pollution 
at street level.  
                 

M Total costs 
estimated at 
450,000. 
Individual 
projects to be 
costed as 
funding 
becomes 
available 

Botley Square requires refurbishment/upgrade 
of street furniture and signage.  (MTI priority). 
Important visitor/shopping environment.  The 
Square to be reviewed regarding priority areas 
for refurbishment including damaged footpaths 
and paviours. Economic and community safety 
benefits.  Local Plan identifies this area as a local 
centre. 

B.12 Rolling programme  for local 
public halls/shops/mill and amenities 

Enhance accessibility to public 
lands, community facilities to 
comply with best practice.              

H 45,000 A local priority for both HEWEB and Parish 
Council. The designated Botley conservation area 
demands sensitive upgrades in accessibility to 
shops and public building. 
Specific project identified for emergency ramp 
adjacent to Parish Centre. 
 

B.13 Mortimer Rd/High St corner Enhanced landscape scheme in 
consultation with residents i.e. 
heritage style railings, shrub beds, 
boxed hedging                                  
 

M 16,000 Improved visual amenity to achieve excellent 
standard as per opposite corner. 

 

 

 

 

 

46



REVISED Nov 2016 Appendix 3          

 
BOTLEY - COMMUNITY AND INFRASTRUCTURE PRIORITIES 2016 - 21 

5 

 

 

 

 

OPEN SPACE 

LOCATION PROPOSAL PRIORITY FUNDING 
REQUIRED (£) 

JUSTIFICATION/COMMENT 

B.14 Pudbrook open space with 
potential Western link to Brook Lane  
 

Develop footpath routes up to 
Lovers Lane. 
Interpretive panels/new 
signage/kissing gates and 
enlarged pond.                         
 
Link to Brook Lane and secure 
open space.   
                                          

H 
 

H 
 
 
 

M 

20,000 
 
18,000 
3,500 for new 
pond 
 
12,000 
 
 
 

Land devolved to Botley Pc Spring 2011 
 
New footpath required due to erosion by nearby 
stream. 
 
 

B.15 Holmesland area/Maffey Court 
 

Improve and fence open space 
areas 

H 12,000 Reduce nuisance/increase child safety. 
 

B.16 Botley Recreation Ground 
 
 

Informal wooden play trail 
Fully Refurbish play area 2020       
       

M 
M 

9,000 
60,000 

Support to Parish Council to maintain ‘Green 
Flag’ status. Signage, seating, bins and amenity 
provision required on a rolling basis. 

B.17 Ferndale/Marls Rd/Crusader 
Rd/Havendale Open Spaces 
 
 
 
 
 

Improve landscaping/upgrade key 
routes to school/planting /seating 
                                                              

M 10,000 per 
site 

 

47



REVISED Nov 2016 Appendix 3          

 
BOTLEY - COMMUNITY AND INFRASTRUCTURE PRIORITIES 2016 - 21 

6 

 

LOCATION PROPOSAL PRIORITY FUNDING 
REQUIRED (£) 

JUSTIFICATION/COMMENT 

B.18 Holmesland Open Spaces 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Improve landscaping/upgrade key 
routes /fencing/pathways               
                 
 

M 18,000  

B.19 Little Hatts Recreation Ground    Upgrade youth zone/football unit 
with new youth shelter.                   
Re-new play area and picnic area 
with seating/signage.       
Footpath extensions/bridge/ 
kissing gates to Manor Farm.          
            

H 
 

H 
 

H 

31,000 
 
75,000 
 
40,000 

Freehold transferred in 2011. Owned and 
managed by Botley PC.  Scope for further 
enhancement /Green Flag status by expanding 
wildflower areas/walks and signage. 
Refer footpaths extensions bridging to Manor 
Farm and existing bridleway network to Local 
Plan. 
 

B.20 Ravenscroft Way 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Public seating H 1,000 Local request and supported by the Parish 
Council 

48



REVISED Nov 2016 Appendix 3          

 
BOTLEY - COMMUNITY AND INFRASTRUCTURE PRIORITIES 2016 - 21 

7 

 

LOCATION 
 
 
 
 

PROPOSAL PRIORITY FUNDING 
REQUIRED (£) 

JUSTIFICATION/COMMENT 

 
 
 
 
B.21 Nursesland Gate entrance to the 
High Street Recreation Ground. 
 

 
 
 
 
Drainage of rainwater 

 
 
 
 

H 

 
 
 
 
23,779 

 
 
 
 
The gateway is at the original entrance to 
the site from the High Street but the 
‘roadway’ outside the gate is not adopted 
highway, it is a shared access. Nowadays 
the Nursesland entrance is part of the ‘Park 
and Stride’ route used by children and 
parents from Botley School. During periods 
of heavy rain surface water run off from 
the recreation ground causes large puddles 
making this section of the route difficult to 
walk. 
The Parish Council has obtained a detailed 
technical quote from a commercial 
contractor to install a surface water 
drainage system to capture and retain the 
run off before it reaches the gate.  

 
 

49



REVISED Nov 2016 Appendix 3          

 
BOTLEY - COMMUNITY AND INFRASTRUCTURE PRIORITIES 2016 - 21 

8 

 

 

PROJECTS DEPENDENT ON DEVELOPMENT 

LOCATION PROPOSAL PRIORITY FUNDING 
REQUIRED (£) 

JUSTIFICATION/COMMENT 

B.22 Extend allotments and 
community hut 
 
 
 
 
 

Allotments oversubscribed   
negotiate extension with HCC on 
extension of land – infrastructure 
to include irrigation, paths & fence 
and community hut/WC.        
 
Improve security - fencing and 
gates/locks.                     

M 
 
 
 
 
 

M 

80,000 + land 
 
 
 
 
 
15,000 

Excellent partnership forged between Allotment  
Association and Botley PC 
Local Plan 
 
 
 
Allotments to meet soil association standard. 
Subject to Community Safety Manager’s and 
Police advice 
( £2,000 grant given in 2010) 
 

B.23 Cemetery Cemetery extension required. 
Capacity circa 180 + cremation 
plots to be clarified reflecting 
population growth.                          
 

H To be costed Estimated capacity for 100 years. No burial space  
available since 2010. To include additional space 
for cremation plots. Explore further opportunities 
for ‘green’ burials. 
Local Plan/dependent on development. 
 

B.24 Boorley Green section 106 
projects 
 

Community Centre                           
MUGA 
Pavilion 
Allotments 
Play area 
Open space 
Pitches 
 

H As per 
agreement 

Part of S106 Agreement. Reserved matters 
agreed for the Pavilion and pitches. 

50



REVISED Nov 2016 Appendix 3          

 
BOTLEY - COMMUNITY AND INFRASTRUCTURE PRIORITIES 2016 - 21 

9 

 

LOCATION PROPOSAL PRIORITY FUNDING 
REQUIRED (£) 

JUSTIFICATION/COMMENT 

B.25 Botley Mill Support preservation and exploit 
potential of Mill as an 
employment / trading / housing 
hub with   
pedestrian link to village centre      
                                                         

H/M To be costed 
(commercial 
partnership 
essential) 

The Mill has potential to make a significant 
contribution to the social and economic vitality of 
Botley. Contributions towards employment and 
environmental enhancements. 
  

B.26 Development north of 
Winchester Street 

a) off-site transport proposals 
b) Open space & play areas 
c) Allotments 
d) Pedestrian & cycle links 
e) Employment uses on site  
f) Cemetery              
 

H To be costed 
 

HCC land ownership 

B.27 Car parking around the Square Conduct a feasibility study into the 
future design of car parking 
provision in the square 

H To be costed Dependent on Botley By-Pass as this project 
would require the narrowing of the High Street. 

 

SEE SEPARATE INVENTORY (TSI) FOR PEDESTRIAN, CYCLING, MOTORISED TRANSPORT SCHEMES and PUBLIC ART STRATEGY 
 
 

51



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

HEDGE END, WEST END & BOTLEY LOCAL AREA COMMITTEE 

Monday 7 November 2016 

FUNDING FOR LOCAL PROJECTS  

Report of the Local Area Manager in consultation with the 
Construction Manager, the Tree Officer and the Clerk to Hedge End 

Town Council 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

It is recommended that this Committee:  

(1) approves expenditure of £21,968.58 from developers’ contributions to 
complete the footpath links from Charterhouse Way to Mescott Meadows; 

(2) approves the allocation of the developers’ contributions of £2,312.29 for the 
public art project in Shafford Meadows; 

(3) notes the Chair’s approval for dropped kerbs in Prestwood Road at a cost of 
£2,500 from the Committee’s reserves; 

(4) notes the Chair’s approval for additional works to Botleigh Bridge of  
£1,583.41; and 

(5) notes the Chair’s approval  of £1,000 as match funding towards new 
equipment for the local speedwatch scheme. 

 

Summary 
 
The recommended funding will support projects which will meet identified local needs. The 
projects will also contribute to the achievement of corporate priorities. 
 
Statutory Powers 
 
Section 1 Localism Act 2011 

  

 Dowd’s Farm links 

1.  The link between the footpaths at Charterhouse Way and Mescott Meadows 
has been on hold whilst the final phases of the Dowd’s Farm development 
have been completed in addition to the transfer of this land to Hedge End 
Town Council. 

53

Agenda Item 10

tel:1583.41


 

 
2.  Developers’ contributions have been allocated to this project by this Committee 

and these can now be used to create natural gravel pathways which will follow 
the existing “desire” lines already created by walkers.  
 

3.  The Town Council will oversee this project as it will take place on its land and 
Members are therefore asked to note the allocation of developers’ 
contributions and approve the subsequent payment of £21,968.58 to the Town 
Council as follows:-  
 
DC   Z/40065/000Bovis Homes, Land at Dowd's Farm, Tollbar Way,       
Hedge End - £7,990.44  
 
OS   Z/40065/000 Bovis Homes, Land at Dowd’s Farm, Tollbar Way, 
Hedge End - £13,978.14 

Shafford Meadows 

4.  The Council’s Tree Officer identified an oak tree in Shafford Meadows which 
had unfortunately died. As a result, a proposal was considered to create a 
carving in the remaining part of the tree. A similar project is the Windhover 
carving near the roundabout/Tescos store in Bursledon. 

 
5.  The proposed design for Shafford Meadows is based around carved 

strawberries which reflect the history of the area and the Town Council’s 
emblem. As William Shafford was the Town Council’s second Clerk, this theme 
was also considered to be appropriate.  
 

6.  The estimate for this work is approximately £2,300 and Members are asked to 
approve this expenditure and allocation of developers’ contributions as 
follows:- 

 

OS  F/12/71625  Mr P J Fidler, Annex 9  St Johns Road, Hedge End - 
£229.43 
 
OS F/13/72564 Mr & Mrs Tavender, The GAP Salvation Army Barracks, 37 
Bursledon Road, Hedge End - £299.69 
 
OS  F/10/67869 Mr & Mrs Finnegan c/o Paul Capper 32 St Johns Road, 
Hedge End  - £791.15 
 
OS F/10/68327 First Wessex, The Haven, Heath House Lane, Hedge End - 
£104.87 
 
OS   F/15/76668 Mr M Muddiman, 30 Bursledon Rd, Hedge End - £887.15 
 

54



 

Prestwood Road 

 
7.  A local resident who uses her mobility scooter to travel from her home in 

Mapleton Road to local amenities has requested that dropped kerbs are 
installed in Prestwood Road as this is the area that she has difficulty crossing. 
 

8.  Dropped kerbs are the responsibility of Hampshire County Council but this 
Committee has funded dropped kerbs previously where there has been an 
urgent local need.  

 
9.  The Chair and local ward councillor are fully supportive of this project and 

given the urgency of these works, the Chair has approved expenditure of 
£2,500 from this Committee’s reserves. Members are asked to note this 
expenditure.  
 

    Botleigh Bridge, near Stag Drive 

10.  Members may recall that extensive repairs were carried out to this bridge when 
the surface became uneven and some of the wooden planks began to 
deteriorate. 
 

11.  Since these specialist repairs have been carried out, officers in the Council’s 
Transport and Engineering section have been trying to obtain a quotation for 
the installation of gabion baskets to protect the abutments of the footbridge. 
This has now been received and an additional £1,583.41from this Committee’s 
reserves is required to complete these works.  
 

12.  Once these works have been inspected by Hampshire County Council, it is 
hoped that the bridge will be adopted by the County and therefore any further 
liability will not fall to this Committee. 

 
Hedge End Community Speedwatch 
 

13.  The purpose of the Hedge End Community Speedwatch is to have a visual and 
active presence in the community. Volunteers work closely with the Police to 
reduce speeding and pass on valuable information about speeding vehicles for 
the Police to follow up. 
 

14.  The team consists of a small group of volunteers who are local residents. They 
aim to conduct patrols twice a month and in addition the Speedwatch Co-
ordinator also gives feedback on local issues providing valuable information so 
that our Direct Services’ team in particular, can take effective action.  
 

15.  The Co-ordinator has now raised significant concerns about the Speedwatch 
equipment as it has become out dated and at times ineffectual. The Strategic 
Partnerships Co-ordinator based at Eastleigh Police station has agreed that 
this new equipment would be a huge improvement and would lead to more 
accurate speed recordings. 

55



 

 
16.  The new equipment will include a radar, tripod, charger and handheld tablet. 

This will cost £1,995 plus carriage.  
 

17.  The Chair has authorised expenditure of £1,000 from the Committee’s local 
initiatives budget. Hedge End Town Council has recently confirmed that it will 
ring fence a grant of £1,000 towards the purchase of this equipment. 

 
Financial Implications 

18.  There is sufficient funding within HEWEB’s budgets and allocated developers’ 
contributions to afford and to contribute to the stated projects.  

 Risk Assessment 

19.  This Committee is only providing funding for projects and therefore has no 
responsibility for on-going maintenance or operational management.   

20.  Any projects which are carried out by the Council’s Direct Services will be in 
accordance with health and safety legislation and good practice.  

 Equality and Diversity Implications 

21.  The Council has a General duty under the Equality Act 2010 of ‘eliminating 
discrimination, advancing equality of opportunity, and fostering good relations 
between different people’. Funding allocations for projects in this report do not 
directly relate (either positively or negatively) to specific groups with ‘protected 
characteristics’ but will benefit all parts of the community.  

 Conclusion 

22.  All of the identified projects will benefit the community within the HEWEB area 
and therefore the proposed expenditure is recommended for noting and 
approval. 

JULIA BIRT 
Area Manager  

 
Date: 17 October 2016 
Contact Officer: Julia Birt 
Tel No: 023 8068 8437 
e-mail: Julia.birt@eastleigh.gov.uk 
Appendices Attached: None 
Report No: AM916JB 

 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D 

The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this report or an important part 
of it is based and have been relied upon to a material extent in the preparation of this report. This list does 
not include any published works or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information: 
None 

56



 

 

07/11/2016 
 
APPLICATIONS RECOMMENDED FOR DECISION 
 
HEDGE END, WEST END & BOTLEY Monday 07 November 2016   Case Officer Gary Osmond 

 
 
SITE: 67 - 71 High Street, West End, Southampton, SO30 3DS 
 
Ref. F/16/78928 Received: 15/07/2016     (14/11/2016) 
 
 
APPLICANT: Mr N Evans 

 
PROPOSAL: Change of use of part of rear garden of no. 9 Severn Way 

to provide parking for existing car dealership and erection 
of single storey extension to workshop building to provide 
an additional service bay 

  
AMENDMENTS:  
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
 
REFUSE PLANNING PERMISSION 
 

 
 
CONDITIONS AND REASONS: 
 
(1) The proposed change of use of existing domestic garden land into 

parking/hardstanding for the neighbouring car dealership is considered to be an 
unacceptable and excessive expansion of a non-conforming commercial 
operation into a residential area, to the detriment of the pattern of development in 
the locality and the prevailing character of the area. As such the application is 
considered to be contrary to saved Policies 59.BE, 120.E & 133.TC of the 
adopted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review (2001-2011), Policies DM1, DM11 
& DM12 of the Submitted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011 - 2029, July 2014, 
and the Council's 'Quality Places' and 'Character Area Appraisals' 
Supplementary Planning Documents. 

  
(2) The proposed change of use of neighbouring domestic garden land into 

parking/hardstanding and the erection of an additional workshop/serving bay 
would result in an unacceptable overdevelopment and over intensification of a 
use which is no longer considered compatible with the nature of the surrounding 
area, to the detriment of the area's amenity and prevailing character. As such the 
application is considered to be contrary to saved Policies 59.BE, 120.E & 133.TC 
of the adopted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review (2001-2011), Policies DM1, 
DM11 & DM12 of the Submitted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011 - 2029, July 

57

Agenda Item 12



 

 

2014, and the Council's 'Quality Places' and 'Character Area Appraisals' 
Supplementary Planning Documents. 

  
(3) Insufficient information has been provided to demonstrate that the proposed 

development - both the change of use of land and new workshop/servicing bay - 
together with the resulting intensification of use, will not result in an unacceptable 
level of disturbance through noise, lighting and odours to surrounding residential 
properties and other neighbouring uses, to the detriment of occupiers of those 
properties and contrary to saved Policies 29.ES, 32.ES, 36.ES, 59.BE & 120.E of 
the adopted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review (2001-2011), Policies DM1, 
DM7 & DM12 of the Submitted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011 - 2029, July 
2014, and the Council's 'Quality Places' Supplementary Planning Document. 

  
(4) The proposed development would provide insufficient on-site parking to serve the 

needs of the car dealership and will result in continued use of the public highway 
for the parking of staff and business vehicles. This, together with the use of the 
public highway for the loading and unloading of car transporters will continue to 
inconvenience local residents and reduce available public parking for other High 
Street businesses, to the detriment of their amenity and the wider vitality and 
viability of West End local centre. As such the application is considered to be 
contrary to saved Policies 59.BE, 120.E & 133.TC of the adopted Eastleigh 
Borough Local Plan Review (2001-2011), Policies DM1, DM11 & DM12 of the 
Submitted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011 - 2029, July 2014, and the 
Council's 'Quality Places' Supplementary Planning Document. 

  
(5) The proposal fails to make contributions towards off-site transport works, the 

need for which will increase as a direct result of the development proposed. The 
proposal is therefore contrary to Supplementary Planning Document 'Planning 
Obligations', saved Policies 101.T & 191.IN of the Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 
Review (2001-2011), Policies DM23 & DM37 of the Submitted Eastleigh Borough 
Local Plan 2011-2029, and paragraph 118 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

  
Note to Applicant: The application was refused following the assessment of the 
following plans: Loc 01, 02, 03, 04, 05 & 06. 

 
In accordance with paragraphs 186 and 187 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework, Eastleigh Borough Council takes a positive approach to the handling 
of development proposals so as to achieve, whenever possible, a positive 
outcome and to ensure all proposals are dealt with in a timely manner. 

  
 

 
 
 
Report: 

 
This application has been referred to Committee on the basis of a previous 
scheme being determined by committee for this site and because of the public 
interest shown. 

58



 

 

 
Description of Application 

 
1. The application seeks consent for the change of use of a substantial part of 

the rear garden of No.9 Severn Way to provide additional parking/external 
display space for the neighbouring Viking Kia car dealership, together with the 
erection of an additional workshop bay to the existing workshop building at the 
rear of the main dealership building. This will require the creation of additional 
hardstanding and retaining walls, as well as new boundary treatment. 

 
Site Area 

 
2. The land relating to the proposed change of use equates to approximately 540 

square metres in area, which is an increase of just under 30% of the total site 
area of the existing dealership. 

 
Topography 

 
3. The natural topography in the immediate area slopes steeply down from east 

to west, with the nearby Lower New Road siting in a natural valley. The 
gardens to properties in Severn Way and Lower New Road, as well as the 
rear service areas of the current dealership are tiered, with the dealership 
having an upper and lower level with ramped access between the two, as well 
as retaining walls. The area proposed for the additional parking would be an 
extension of the upper level, which sits approximately two metres higher than 
the lower level. This upper parking level in turn sits around two metres lower 
than the gardens to the east and around four to five metres higher than the 
neighbouring gardens in Lower New Road. 

 
Trees & Boundary Treatment 

 
4. There are no trees centrally within the proposed site but the western boundary 

with Lower New Road properties are lined by tall conifers and with more mixed 
species along the boundary with No.8 Severn Way. Work has already been 
undertaken to remove and lop these conifers and the proposals include their 
complete removal and replacement with new evergreen shrub planting. 

 
Site Characteristics 

 
5. The dealership fronts onto West End High Street, where it also has its main 

access. There is a secondary access available from Lower New Road but this 
does not provide vehicular access to the rear parking areas. The site was 
previously used as a petrol filing station but has been in use as a car 
dealership since the 1970s, although activities on site have expanded 
considerably over recent years with additional workshop, showroom and 
display space being created. 

 
6. The area proposed for the change of use is currently unused by the current 

occupiers of No.9, who are renting the property from the applicant and do not 
have access to what is the original garden to the property. The site is currently 

59



 

 

unkempt and has been used to deposit soil and rubble from recent works to 
the rear of No.2c Lower New Road, the garden of which has also been turned 
into additional parking for the dealership. 

 
Character of Locality 

 
7. The current dealership site lies within the main West End commercial centre, 

albeit the total area covered by the dealership has expanded in recent years. 
This local centre includes mainly retail and leisure uses, as well as residential, 
and while the dealership has used the site for many years it is a use that does 
now sit a little at odds with the prevailing character of the High Street.  

 
8. The land proposed for change of use sits outside the defined local commercial 

centre boundary within an area which in planning terms is considered to be 
residential in nature. 

 
Relevant Planning History 

 

REFERENCE DESCRIPTION DECISION 

WIR21097000
00 

Erection of filling station and car 
wash and retention of low level 
workshop following demolition of 
filling station and workshop. 

PERMIT 
OUTLINE – 
26/07/1971 

WIR21097001
00 

Construction of service areas and 
erection of canopy, following 
demolition of existing canopy, kiosk 
and service area. 

PERMIT – 
24/07/1972 

WIR21097002
00 

Redevelopment as self-service 
garage with ancillary offices stores, 
vehicle repair workshops and 
showroom, in place of that permitted 
under WIR.21097/1. 

PERMIT – 
27/04/1973 

Z/25682/000/0
0 

Erection of a workshop. PERMIT – 
13/11/1981 

Z/25682/001/0
0 

Erection of single storey building to 
be used as a car cleaning and 
preparation bay. 

REFUSED – 
04/12/1981 

Z/25682/002/0
0 

Construction of two storey car park. PERMIT – 
15/02/1985 

Z/25682/003/0
0 

Alterations to existing garage 
including enlarged showroom, paint 
spray booth, change of use of flat to 
office accommodation. 

PERMIT – 
04/08/1987 

Z/25682/004 Change of use from part of garden to 
2B Lower New Road to hardstanding 

PERMIT – 
14/11/1994 

60



 

 

REFERENCE DESCRIPTION DECISION 

within curtilage of Viking Garages 
Ltd. 

Z/25682/005/0
0 

Front extension to show room and 
addition of covered display area and 
amendment to elevations. 

PERMIT – 
16/01/1995 

Z/25682/009/0
0 

Relief from condition 3 on application 
25682/5 lifting restriction on areas for 
parking of staff and customer 
vehicles. 

PERMIT – 
12/11/1996 

Z/25682/010/0
0 

Installation of satellite antenna. PERMIT – 
06/03/1997 

Z/25682/012/0
0 

Single storey front extension to bring 
shop front in line with existing 
showroom. 

PERMIT – 
16/01/2004 

F/04/51051 Construction of additional showroom 
to replace part of existing external 
sales area. 

PERMIT – 
24/06/2004 

F/11/69233 Increase in height and provision of 
new roof on side and rear elevation, 
recladding of part of building, 
refurbishment of existing workshop 
areas, provision of mezzanine and 
ground works with retaining structure 
to provide car parking to rear at 
lower ground floor. 

PERMIT – 
14/09/2011 

F/15/75788 Change of use from domestic garden 
to provide ancillary parking for 
existing car dealership. 

REFUSE – 
13/03/2015 

F/15/76543 Change of use from domestic garden 
to provide ancillary parking for 
existing car dealership 
(resubmission). 

PERMIT – 
29/09/2015 

 
9. As can be seen, the dealership site – at least its frontage – has been used as 

a filing station and for car repairs since and prior to the early 1970s. Over the 
last 45 years there has been a gradual expansion of the site and facilities, 
particularly in the last decade or so. While some of these approvals were not 
implemented, the dealership has grown considerably and is now one of two 
main Kia dealerships covering Southampton/Winchester and the wider 
surrounding area. 

 
Representations Received 

 

61



 

 

10. At the time of writing, a total of 29 representations have been received from 18 
addresses, 12 of which are immediate or very close neighbours to the 
application site. All raise objections and concerns to the proposals and 
highlight the following points/issues: 

 

 Loss of garden land 

 Encroachment into a residential area 

 Loss of trees 

 Increased area of hardstanding 

 Overdevelopment  

 Drainage 

 Flooding  

 Noise 

 Light pollution 

 Smells 

 Disturbance/disruption 

 No thought for neighbouring residential properties 

 Increased traffic and customers 

 Stability of neighbouring ground 

 Land contamination 

 Pollution 

 Existing car wash area is not properly drained 

 Encroachment onto neighbouring land 

 Overlooking and loss of privacy 

 Visually intrusive 

 Cars already park in public laybys and neighbouring residential streets 

 Transporters unloading on the High Street, pavements and in the bus stop 

 Has outgrown existing site and no longer suitable for West End High Street 

 Dealership needs to move to a proper industrial site 

 Further expansion will result in more harm to village 

 No consultation with neighbours 

 Land did not ‘unexpectedly’ become available, the applicant actively 
approached the previous owner of the site to sell 

 If approved, where will the expansion stop? 

 No community benefits to proposals 

 Most employees are not local to West End and cause parking problems 

 Concerns that Severn Way could be used to access the site 
 

Consultation Responses 
 

11. Head of Transportation & Engineering (Transport Planner) – No objection. 
 

12. Whilst it may be that the dealership is essentially outgrowing the site, and 
realistically requires an alternative location, as outlined in previous comments 
and with the additional information provided, it would not be anticipated that 
the application would have a severe additional impact on the local highway 
network. As such in line with the NPPF, there is no viable reason for refusal on 
highway grounds. 

62



 

 

 
13. However, it was commented that if the dealership has a site available at 

Chalcroft Business Park for vehicle storage, and that considering the vast 
majority of vehicles delivered are onwards driven out to Chalcroft Business 
Park, it would make sense that this was made the transporter destination.  The 
purpose of the bus stop is for buses, not deliveries, and as such if the change 
in drop-off location can be made as outlined, this would be beneficial to the 
current situation. 

 
14. It was also highlighted that if the current number of demonstrator vehicles 

parked on the public highway stands at 8, and this will reduce to 3 following 
the development, then this is beneficial. However, it should be pointed out that 
the highway should not be utilised for private business parking, and as such it 
would be requested that the garage do its best to be a considerate neighbour 
and ensure parking is on-site as much as possible. Continued complaints from 
residents could potentially result in TRO restrictions, and as such it would be 
beneficial to the garage themselves to reduce their highway parking needs as 
far as possible. 

 
15. Head of Transportation & Engineering (Development Management 

Engineer) – The submitted drainage strategy appears acceptable in principle 
but further details with regards to the proposed parking area’s construction are 
still required in order to ensure that water is retained and drains to the 
proposed storage crates system and does not flow off the parking surface into 
neighbouring gardens. 

 
16. Head of Environmental Health – Following complaints from neighbours noise 

measurements have been taken on site. Based on these measurements the 
existing noise levels would not be sufficient in Environmental Health terms to 
amount to a statutory nuisance, although it is acknowledged that this was only 
a very short sample period on one morning. 
 

17. With regard to the current application, the main uncertainty, relates to the 
likely growth of activities generating noise that might arise. While it is unlikely 
there would be any new types of noise, there might be more occasions when 
noise is generated. No specific information on this matter has been provided in 
support of the application to help on this point. This uncertainty does raise 
concern and this is also reflected in the significant community concern about 
noise that the application has triggered. A review of the additional information 
submitted still does not adequately address this issue. However, the 
suggested mitigation measures put forward by the applicant, such as ensuring 
workshop doors are kept closed are welcomed, although it has been noted 
that the workshop doors usually appear to be left open whenever Council 
officials have visited. 

 
18. West End Parish Council – No objection on planning grounds but concerns 

of objectors were noted. 
 

Policy Context:  Designation Applicable to Site 
 

63



 

 

 Within Built-up Area Boundary 

 Within West End Local Centre 

 Within Established Residential Area 
 

Development Plan Saved Policies and Emerging Local Plan Policies 
 

 Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review 2001-2011 saved Policies: 25.NC, 
29.ES, 32.ES, 36.ES, 45.ES, 59.BE, 63.BE, 101.T, 120.E, 133.TC & 
191.IN 

 

 Submitted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011-2029, July 2014 Policies: 
DM1, DM5, DM7, DM9, DM11, DM12, DM23, DM24 & DM37 

 
The Submitted Local Plan comprises: the Revised Pre-submission Eastleigh 
Borough Local Plan 2011 - 2029, published February 2014; and the Schedule 
of Proposed Minor Changes, submitted to the Secretary of State in July 2014. 

 
Supplementary Planning Documents 

 

 Supplementary Planning Document: Quality Places (November 2011) 

 Supplementary Planning Document: Character Area Appraisals – Hedge 
End, West End and Botley (January 2008) 

 Supplementary Planning Document: Planning Obligations (July 2008, 
updated 2010) 

 
National Planning Policy Framework 

 
19. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states that applications for 

planning permission must be determined in accordance with the development 
plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. Para 14 sets out a 
general presumption in favour of sustainable development and states that 
development proposals which accord with the development plan should be 
approved without delay. Where the development plan is absent, silent, or 
relevant policies are out-of-date planning permission should be granted unless 
the adverse impacts of the development would outweigh the benefits; or 
specific policies in the Framework indicate development should be restricted 
(paragraph 14). Local plan policies that do not accord with the NPPF are now 
deemed to be “out-of-date”. The NPPF requires that due weight should be 
given to relevant policies in existing plans according to their degree of 
consistency with the NPPF. In other words the closer the policies in the plan 
accord to the policies in the Framework, the greater the weight that may be 
given. 

 
20. Also of relevance are paragraphs 17, 19 and 23. Paragraph 17 states that one 

of the twelve core principles of the NPPF is that planning should “proactively 
drive and support sustainable economic development to deliver the homes, 
business and industrial units, infrastructure and thriving local places that the 
country needs.” Paragraph 19 states that “The Government is committed to 
ensuring that the planning system does everything it can to support 
sustainable economic growth. Planning should operate to encourage and not 

64



 

 

act as an impediment to sustainable growth. Therefore significant weight 
should be placed on the need to support economic growth through the 
planning system.” Paragraph 23 states that planning “should be positive, 
promote competitive town centre environments and set out policies for the 
management and growth of centres”. 

 
21. Paragraph 17 sets out twelve core principles that underpin the planning 

system, one of which is that planning should “always seek to secure high 
quality design and good standard of amenity for all existing and future 
occupants of land and buildings”. 

 
22. Paragraph 53 of the NPPF states that “Local planning authorities should 

consider the case for setting out policies to resist inappropriate development 
of residential gardens, for example where development would cause harm to 
the local area.” 

 
23. Paragraph 56 of the National Planning Policy Framework states that “The 

Government attaches great importance to the design of the built environment. 
Good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, is indivisible from 
good planning, and should contribute positively to making places better for 
people.” 

 
24. It goes on to say in paragraph 64 that “Permission should be refused for 

development of poor design that fails to take the opportunities available for 
improving the character and quality of an area and the way it functions.” 

 
 
National Planning Practice Guidance  

 
25. Where material, this guidance should be afforded weight in the consideration 

of planning applications.  
 

Policy Commentary 
 

26. The above policies and guidance combine to form the criteria against which 
this application will be assessed with particular regard to: the principle of that 
proposed; the stated reasons for the application; its layout, design and impact 
upon the street scene; impact upon the character of the area; parking and 
highway safety issues; flooding and drainage; noise, disturbance and the 
amenity of surrounding uses, particularly in relation to residential properties; 
trees, landscaping and nature conservation. 

 
Comment on Consultation Responses and Representations Received 

 
27. All comments are noted and responses to the main planning related issues 

are given below. 
 

Assessment of Proposal: Development Plan and / or Legislative 
Background 

 

65



 

 

28. Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 states:- 
 
29. "If regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any 

determination to be made under the planning Acts the determination must 
be made in accordance with the plan unless material considerations 
indicate otherwise." 

 
30. In this case policy issues for consideration include: 

 
Principle 

 
31. The application site lies within the urban edge where the basic principle of 

development is considered to be acceptable, with any formal planning 
approval being based upon the exact nature, design and impact of that 
proposed being considered appropriate and in accordance with the relevant 
Local Plan policies and Supplementary Planning Documents. The most 
relevant policy in this case is saved Policy 59.BE of the adopted Local Plan 
which requires development to take full and proper account of the context of 
the site including the character and appearance of the locality and be 
appropriate in mass, scale, materials, layout, design and siting. It also requires 
a high standard of landscape design, a satisfactory means of access and 
layout for vehicles, cyclists and pedestrians, to make provision for refuse and 
cycle storage and avoid unduly impacting on neighbouring uses through 
overlooking, loss of light, loss of outlook, and noise and fumes. Also of 
relevance is Policy DM1 of the Submitted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011-
2029, July 2014, which essentially reiterates the above requirements. 

 
32. Also of relevance are saved Policies 29.ES and 32.ES which relate to issues 

of noise and pollution. Policy 29.ES states that “Industrial or commercial 
development which would result in any noise-sensitive premises being subject 
to a loss of amenity by means of an excessive increase in noise and/or 
vibration exposure, will not be permitted.” Whereas Policy 32.ES states that, 
“Proposals for uses which may generate air, land or water pollution, will only 
be permitted if the Borough Council is satisfied that they have been designed 
to control their impact to an acceptable level.” 

 
33. Saved Policy 36.ES relates to lighting and states that “Permission will be 

refused for proposals which do not incorporate well designed lighting, where 
lighting is necessary.” This is also one of the requirements of Policy 63.BE 
which relates to good car park design. 

 
34. Saved Policy 45.ES relates to surface water disposal and states that 

“Development proposals must incorporate adequate measures for the disposal 
of surface water from the development including, where practicable, source 
control techniques and sustainable drainage systems, incorporating future 
maintenance of the system.” 

 
35. Saved Policy 120.E relates to the redevelopment or extension of existing 

employment sites which lie outside of the designated industrial employment 
areas. The policy sets out a number of criteria which must be met if a proposal 

66



 

 

is to be considered acceptable of which numbers i. & ii. are most applicable. 
These state that development will only be considered acceptable if “They: i. 
cause no demonstrable harm to the amenities and environment of occupiers 
of nearby existing or proposed housing;” and “ii. do not generate traffic which 
would result in unacceptable traffic levels on adjoining roads or endanger 
other road users”. 

 
36. Also of relevance is saved Policy 133.TC which relates to development within 

identified town, local and village centres. This policy is intended to help protect 
existing centres by ensuring that any development within them is appropriate 
and will not undermine the centre or other nearby local centres. However, the 
development proposed in this instance does not easily fit in with the 
requirements of the policy due to the nature of the existing use and the fact 
that the main element of the application – the change of use of residential land 
– falls outside the identified West End village centre. 

 
37. In very basic principle terms therefore, that proposed is acceptable. However, 

the acceptability of the development put forward and any granting of planning 
approval will be entirely dependent upon the likely resulting impact of that 
proposed upon neighbouring properties, in particular residential properties, as 
well as the wider West End village centre. 

 
Reasons for Application 

 
38. The principle reason stated for the application is to provide additional space 

for the current business, which struggles at present to accommodate all the 
vehicles associated with the dealership – new cars, demonstrators, used cars 
for sale, servicing of vehicles, customer and staff parking, etc. – with the 
business regularly having to use the public highway for staff and demonstrator 
car parking. The proposed change of use of land is intended to provide 
additional hardstanding for car sales display, which will free up some of the 
existing external sales area for further customer and demonstrator parking. 

 
39. The other part of the application is for the construction of an additional vehicle 

servicing and workshop bay to provide for increased customer demand. This 
will result in some existing parking spaces being lost but these would be 
compensated for by the additional parking provided by changing the garden of 
No.9 Severn Way into additional hardstanding. 

 
Layout, Design & Street Scene 

 
40. The proposed new service and workshop bay would be located behind the 

main building and sit to the right of the existing pair of service bays to the 
eastern side of the building, although would be accessed from the rear. This 
would result in the loss of three parking spaces to make way for the extension 
and a further two spaces on the other side of the existing vehicle ramp and 
opposite the new workshop door in order to provide room to manoeuvre 
vehicles in and out. Although resulting in the loss of spaces, this would be 
compensated for within the larger change of use element of the application. In 
terms of its appearance and physical size, the additional workshop raises no 

67



 

 

concerns with regards to impact upon the street scene or general visual 
character of the area. 

 
41. Equally, the proposed conversion of the majority of the rear garden to No.9 

Severn Way into hardstanding/parking raises no significant issues in terms of 
the street scene, given that it is set well back from the site frontage and would 
only be visible from the street through the existing main site access. However, 
the proposed gabion retaining structures and the large area of hardstanding 
would appear as a rather alien and developed feature when viewed from the 
surrounding green residential gardens. 

 
Area Character 

 
42. The main issue of concern however is the impact that such a large expansion 

of the current dealership into a residential area would have upon the visual 
and physical character of the area, as well as the inevitable intensification of 
use. It is acknowledged that the residential site affected does sit on the 
existing edge of the West End local centre. However, that proposed is a clear 
and quite dramatic encroachment into domestic gardens and well outside the 
accepted edge of the commercial activities of the local centre. It is accepted 
that permissions have been granted over the years for expansion of the 
dealership site, most recently last year, and it is clear from the shape of the 
site and neighbouring plots that various surrounding gardens have been 
bought up and converted into additional areas of parking and hardstanding 
over the years. However, none have been on the scale of that currently 
proposed, which at 540 square metres would represent an almost 30% 
increase in the current size of the dealership site. It would also result in more 
residential properties directly bordering the site and provide more potential for 
conflict between residential and commercial uses. 

 
Parking & Highway Safety Issues 

 
43. The parking of Kia demonstrator cars on the High Street and surrounding 

streets has been raised as a matter of concern by a number of objectors to the 
application. This is obviously not good practice and results in reduced public 
parking for customers of other businesses within the local centre and 
inconvenience for residents. The applicant acknowledges that this is a regular 
practice and has used this as one of the reasons to justify the proposed 
expansion of the dealership site. However, even the applicant’s supporting 
information states that if approved the proposal would only result in the 
removal of five of the current eight demonstrator vehicles which currently 
regularly park on the highway, meaning that three valuable public spaces 
would still be unavailable for members of the public to use. 

 
44. While an improvement over the present situation, the fact that an expansion of 

the scale proposed will still not provide sufficient room on site for the 
dealership’s demonstrator vehicles does raise the important question of 
whether the site is still suitable for a dealership of this size to run on a day to 
day basis without having any negative impact upon surrounding uses or other 
businesses within the local centre. 

68



 

 

 
45. If shortage of parking for demonstrator vehicles was the only issue raised, 

then perhaps this is something that could be dealt with through appropriate 
management. However, concerns have also been raised that dealership staff 
regularly park in surrounding streets as there is insufficient space on-site. The 
proposed scheme would provide no on-site staff parking, meaning that the 
current problems of on-street parking by dealership staff would not be 
addressed were the application approved. The applicant does highlight that a 
number of the sales staff have access to the demonstrator vehicles for travel 
to and from work. While this could free up on-street parking in the evenings 
and overnight, it provides no benefit during the day when the dealership is 
open, which is also the time when the vast majority of other local businesses 
also require public parking for customers. 

 
46. Again, the lack of ability to provide any form of staff parking despite the 

increase in size raises the question of whether the site is still suitable for a 
modern dealership of this size. 

 
47. A further highway concern which has been raised is the loading and unloading 

of car transporters on the High Street, given that there is no room on site for 
transporters to pull off the road. The applicant has stated that this is a regular 
practice which has been ongoing for a number of years and that there is an 
‘understanding’ between the dealership and the local police. The applicant has 
also stated that transporters make use of a nearby bus stop layby to ensure 
that through traffic on the High Street is not obstructed. However, some 
objectors have noted that this has resulted in buses being unable to stop 
safely and that on occasions transporters have parked on the pavement to 
load and unload. The applicant has stated that there are on average one or 
two deliveries a week, and that the vast majority of cars delivered are then 
driven onward to a storage site at Chalcroft Business Park. Although this may 
appear to be a relatively small number of deliveries in a week, the nature of 
the car industry is such that this number can substantially increase during the 
busy periods when new registrations become available. 

 
48. Given the narrow and quite constrained nature of West End High Street, the 

presence of any large HGV, such as a car transporter will inevitably cause 
some inconvenience to other traffic. It is accepted that neighbouring 
businesses such as the Asda supermarket will have regular and more frequent 
deliveries but this is a business with a dedicated on-site loading bay and 
service yard and which will have the majority of its deliveries outside of peak 
traffic periods, thereby not inconveniencing neighbouring uses and residents. 

 
49. Although no formal objection has been raised by the Head of Transportation 

and Engineering, this is purely on the grounds that these are established 
practices, thereby making it difficult to object on planning grounds given that 
theoretically the existing situation would be made no worse. However, it is also 
clearly highlighted in the consultation response that the regular practice of 
using the public highway for the parking of business vehicles and the loading 
and unloading of transporters is not something that is encouraged, and that 

69



 

 

the applicant should do their upmost to limit and ideally stop these 
occurrences. 

 
50. It also queries why car transporters regularly use the High Street to load and 

unload when the dealership has access to a storage site at Chalcroft Business 
Park. Not only is Chalcroft far better suited for use by HGVs, but the 
transporters would be able to make their deliveries more easily and efficiently. 
It would also stop the practice of new cars being driven from the dealership to 
the storage site only to have to be driven back later when required by a 
customer, thereby reducing traffic and inconvenience for other West End 
businesses and residents. The applicant has said that they will endeavour to 
alter where deliveries are made, although it should rightly be questioned why 
this has not been done before if the dealership has access to an alternative 
storage site? 

 
51. The provision of additional customer, demonstrator and servicing parking on 

site would certainly help the present situation and assist in freeing up on-street 
parking for its originally intended purpose, i.e. for the public to use. While 
welcome, this benefit will only be sustained if the level of activity at the 
dealership remains at its present level. However, that is obviously not the 
intension of the applicant given that the application also includes an additional 
service bay to provide three in total, a theoretical 50% increase in capacity. 
The provision of three further dedicated parking spaces for servicing of 
vehicles also implies an intension to expand capacity on site, all of which 
would appear to corroborate the concerns of objectors regarding further 
intensification of use on site and all that entails. 
 

52. Notwithstanding the lack of a formal objection from the Head of Transportation 
and Engineering, officers are of the view that the present situation of business 
vehicles utilising public parking areas, no provision of staff parking on site and 
the regular use of the High Street to load and unload transporters is entirely 
unacceptable. If the proposed development could alleviate these issues 
entirely, then it would add more weight in favour of the application. However, 
even the applicant acknowledges that many of the current practices would 
continue despite the sizable expansion proposed for the site. As such it is felt 
more than reasonable to include a reason for refusal based on the inability of 
the resulting development to meet the minimum parking requirements of a 
dealership of this size. 

 
Flooding & Drainage 

 
53. A serious concern that has been specifically raised by residents in Lower New 

Road is that of flooding and drainage. Lower New Road runs along the bottom 
of a fairly steeply sloped valley and acts as a natural route for surface water. 
Properties along the eastern side of the street already suffer from severe 
drainage issues which have resulted in residents having to spend 
considerable amounts of money on major repairs to their properties. While 
there is nothing to suggest that the existing large areas of hardstanding to the 
rear of the dealership are to blame, the concerns expressed that the proposed 

70



 

 

substantial increase in hard surfacing and loss of planted garden could make 
the present drainage situation much worse are entirely understandable. 

 
54. Following a request from the case officer additional information in the form of a 

possible drainage strategy has been submitted to support the application. This 
proposes a system of gullies connected to an underground storage tank where 
water would then be discharged into the existing public sewer via a flow 
control valve. In principle this would appear to be a feasible strategy and 
would be significantly better than the originally intended basic soakaways but 
further construction details are required to ensure that there would be no 
overflow of water onto neighbouring gardens. Confirmation is also likely to be 
required that Southern Water would be willing to allow the proposed drainage 
system to link to the public sewer and if Environment Agency consent is also 
required. 

 
55. If these consents can be obtained and it is demonstrated that the proposed 

strategy would work in practice, then it has the potential to greatly improve the 
present situation for properties in Lower new Road, provided it is constructed 
and maintained to the necessary standards. While there is still a question 
mark over the issue of drainage, it is considered that the additional details 
required could be secured via a suitably worded condition should planning 
approval be granted. 

 
Noise, Disturbance & Amenity 

 
56. The majority of those living close to the site and who have commented on the 

proposals have highlighted ongoing issues of noise and disturbance due to 
activities at the dealership. These include the constant manoeuvring of 
vehicles – which is not helped by the shingle surface of the lower parking area 
– the noise of the pressure washer and compressor in the car wash area, the 
sound of air tools and other workshop noises, radios, horns beeping, car 
alarms, doors slamming, engines revving, etc., as well as poorly positioned 
security lights. In their defence, the applicant points out that there has been a 
garage on site for many years and by living next to a commercial area, 
residents should be willing to expect a degree of disturbance. While not an 
entirely unreasonable argument, there is some sympathy with the comments 
made by residents. 

 
57. Yes, it is accepted that there has been a garage including some form of car 

repairs on site for many years. However, this was on a much smaller scale 
than the present dealership and that which would result if the application is 
approved. As can be seen from the site’s planning history, there has been a 
steady expansion of the business and the amount of land it uses over recent 
years. This increase in scale inevitably brings with it increased levels of 
activity, which in turn will have a greater impact upon those living nearby in 
terms of disturbance. 

 
58. Saved Policy 29.ES of the adopted Local Plan states that “Industrial or 

commercial development which would result in any noise-sensitive premises 
being subject to a loss of amenity by means of an excessive increase in noise 

71



 

 

and/or vibration exposure, will not be permitted.” Equally, saved Policy 36.ES 
which relates to lighting states that “Permission will be refused for proposals 
which do not incorporate well designed lighting, where lighting is necessary.” It 
therefore needs to be demonstrated by the applicant that the proposed 
development and the increase in operations on site which it would allow will 
not result in any further unacceptable loss of amenity for those living nearby, 
in particular for those sensitive neighbouring residential properties. While the 
number and location of security lights could be controlled via a suitably 
worded condition as part of a planning approval, the impact of disturbance 
from the other site operations is less clear. 

 
59. Following a request from the case officer, further information in relation to 

noise and disturbance was submitted in support of the application. This has 
been reviewed by the Head of Environmental Health, who is also investigating 
recent noise complaints relating to activities at the dealership. As can be seen 
from the consultation response above, while existing noise levels do not 
appear to be to a level where enforcement action is required, concerns remain 
that inadequate information/evidence has been provided to demonstrate that 
the proposed development and resulting intensification of use on site will not 
result in any unacceptable impact upon the amenity of neighbouring 
occupiers. As such this lack of evidence forms one of the suggested reasons 
for refusal. 

 
Trees, Landscaping & Nature Conservation 

 
60. The loss of garden land and trees has been raised as one of the reasons for 

objecting to the application, together with impact upon local wildlife and 
biodiversity. While some trees on site have been felled, none were subject to 
any preservation orders. In terms of biodiversity, the garden to No.9 being laid 
mostly to lawn is likely to have very limited habitat potential. These could not 
therefore be used as any reasonable grounds to refuse the application. New 
evergreen landscaping is proposed around the edges of the site. While it may 
well provide suitable visual screening it would do little in terms of enhancing 
biodiversity. 

 
Planning Obligations / Considerations 

 
61. The proposed additional workshop and servicing bay will result in additional 

custom for the dealership, which in turn will result in increased movements to 
and from the site, thereby raising the need for transport contributions to 
mitigate the increase pressure on the local road network. A figure has been 
calculated by the Head of Transportation and Engineering which the applicant 
has agreed to secure should there be a resolution to approve the application. 

 
Other Material Considerations 

 
62. Concerns have been raised by a number of neighbours to the site that the 

proposals would result in encroachment onto their land and that all the land 
shown within the application site red line is not in the ownership of the 
applicant. If this is the case, then notice would need to be served upon those 

72



 

 

adjoining land owners and Certificate ‘B’ on the planning application form 
signed. However, Certificate ‘A’ has been signed which states that all of the 
land within the identified application site is within the ownership/control of the 
applicant. While issues of land ownership and boundary disputes are not for 
the Local Planning Authority to become involved in, if the incorrect certificate 
has been signed then technically the application is not valid and the Local 
Planning Authority would not be in a position to determine the application, 
whether that is to approve or refuse. 

 
63. The applicant has not been able to conclusively demonstrate that all of the 

land within the application red line is within his ownership. However, neither 
have the neighbouring objectors been able to demonstrate that the land is not. 
That being the case, it is considered that the applicant should be given the 
benefit of the doubt in terms of whether the application can be determined, 
particularly as the recommendation is to refuse. 

 
64. Also of relevance is the Submitted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011 - 2029, 

July 2014.  While not yet adopted it does carry weight by virtue of being 
intended as the current local plan’s replacement.  With regards to this 
application, the new policies essentially echo those of the current plan and are 
not considered to affect the recommendation put forward. 

 
Conclusion 

 
65. While in very basic principle terms that proposed may initially appear to be 

acceptable, the Local Plan policies set out above make it very clear that the 
development or expansion of an existing commercial/industrial use will only be 
considered acceptable if it can be demonstrated that there will be no adverse 
impact upon neighbouring uses, particularly if those neighbouring uses are 
sensitive uses such as residential housing. Based on what information has 
been provided in support of the application, officers are not satisfied that the 
applicant has adequately demonstrated that the likely impact associated with 
the resulting development proposed will not result in harm to the amenities of 
neighbouring uses and occupiers. As such the application is considered to be 
contrary to saved Policies 29.ES, 36.ES, 59.BE and 120.E of the adopted 
Local Plan. 

 
66. Equally it has not been demonstrated that if approved the increased activities 

associated with the intensification of use will not continue to negatively impact 
upon vitality and viability of West End local centre as a whole. Notwithstanding 
the argument that Viking Kia is a long standing local business, it has now 
grown to such a size that the current site can no longer accommodate all the 
basic requirements of a modern car dealership and has spilled out into West 
End, taking over public parking provision for its own use. While the current 
lack of space has been used as a reason to support the application, there is 
nothing to say that even if approved that more neighbouring sites will not be 
required to accommodate future expansion of what appears to be a successful 
business, to the detriment of other High Street businesses. The view could 
equally be taken that the more successful the dealership is, the harder it will 
become for much smaller and unconnected neighbouring businesses to thrive. 

73



 

 

 
67. Even if it can be demonstrated that the proposed expansion of the site and 

activities upon it will not have any demonstrable impact upon neighbouring 
occupiers and the vitality and viability of West End local centre, officers are of 
the opinion that an expansion of the scale proposed into an established 
residential area and so far beyond the defined commercial centre boundaries 
is fundamentally unacceptable. If this amount of additional land is required by 
the current dealership, and even at the applicant’s own admission will still not 
be sufficient to address all current operational requirements, then it is clear 
that the business has outgrown the available land, even if planning approval 
were to be granted for the proposed change of use. Rather than continual 
encroachment into neighbouring residential land, perhaps the option of moving 
to a more suitable site in a more appropriate location would not only be better 
for the dealership but also for West End as a whole. 

 
68. As such the application is recommended for refusal. 

 
 
 
 

74



 

 

 
 
 
  

 

F/16/78928 

67 – 71 High Street, 
West End 

75



This page is intentionally left blank



07/11/2016 
 
 
 

 

APPLICATIONS RECOMMENDED FOR DECISION  

 

 

 

 
HEDGE END, WEST END & BOTLEY   Monday 07 November 2016   Case Officer David Huckfield 

 
 
SITE:  Shafford Meadows, Hedge End, Southampton 
 
Ref. F/12/71663 Received: 26/02/2016 
 
 
APPLICANT: Linden Homes 
 
PROPOSAL: Application for non-material amendment: partial substitution of 

approved layout drawing as referenced in conditions 1 and 14 to 
allow for changes to approved parking arrangements 

 
AMENDMENTS: 20/07/2016, 24/10/2016 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
 
GRANT NON-MATERIAL AMENDMENT 
 
 

 

1)   The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
following approved plans: 5001 P6, P007, P008, 5000 P11, 3000A P1,3000B 
P1, 3001 P1, 3003A P1, 3003B P1, 3004 P1,  3005A P1, 3005B P1, 3007A 
P1, 3007B P1, 3008 P1, 3009 P1, 3100 P3, 3200 P1, 6000 P1, 6001 P1, 
120552/A/PL01 REV C, 120552/A/PL02 REV C,  120552/A/PL04 REV B, 
120552/A/PL05 REV A, 120552/A/PL06 REV A, 120552/A/PL07 REV D, 
120552/A/PL08 REV A, 120552/A/PL09, 120552/A/PL10, 120552/A/PL11 
REV D, 120552/A/PL12  REV A, 120552/A/PL13 Rev A, 120552/C/002 REV 
C, 120552/C/500 REV D, 120552/C/001 REV E, 120552/C/700 , 
120552/C/1200 REV B, 0644.001 E, T 272/6 Rev A, 0470.1.3 Rev E, 444-
M14 Rev A, 444-P32, 120552/E/100 Rev B, T272/3 Rev E, LIND-01.1 REV: 
B. Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 

(14)  Within 6 months of the date of this decision (or otherwise in accordance with a 
timetable to be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority), the areas shown on the approved plan (Drawing No. LIND-01.1 
REV: B) for the parking of vehicles shall have been made available, surfaced 
and marked out in accordance with the details as shown on this drawing. The 
areas shall then be retained, including those areas marked out on the plan as 
being unallocated and not in private ownership, in a condition to the 

77

Agenda Item 13



satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority, and reserved for that purpose at 
all times. Reason: In the interests of highway safety/amenity. 

 
Note to Applicant: In accordance with paragraphs 186 and 187 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework, Eastleigh Borough Council takes a 
positive approach to the handling of development proposals so as to achieve, 
whenever possible, a positive outcome and to ensure all proposals are dealt 
with in a timely manner. 

 
Note to Applicant: The conditions as stipulated on the original planning 
permission (F/12/71663), with the exception of those that are modified by this 
permission, continue to apply.  

 
 

 
 

Report: 
 
1. This application has been referred to Committee because it is deemed to be 

controversial. 
 

The site and its surroundings 
 
2. Shafford Meadows is a modern residential development comprising a total of 

41 dwellings, which is served by a private access road from Turnpike Way. 
These dwellings are formed of predominantly two-storey properties, with there 
also being a three-storey block of flats sited at the western end of the road. Car 
parking for these dwellings is provided through a mixture of in-curtilage parking, 
as well as allocated and unallocated provision, with a number of properties also 
having on-plot garages.  

 
3. The surrounding area comprises a mixture of uses, with further residential 

properties to the east and retail uses to the north, with the latter including the 
Next retail store which was approved under the same planning permission as 
the residential development now known as Shafford Meadows.  

 
Relevant planning history 

 
4. The redevelopment of the former Wildern Mill site, which includes what is now 

Shafford Meadows as well as the adjacent retail development to the north (Next 
retail store), was approved under planning permission reference F/12/71663 
dated 21 March 2013.  

 
Description of proposals and background to application 

 
5. The application seeks a non-material amendment under section 96A of the 

Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) to planning permission 
F/12/71663 in respect of the parking arrangements for the residential aspect 
(Shafford Meadows) of the redevelopment of the former Wildern Mill site.  

 

78



6. This planning permission was granted subject to a number of conditions. These 
included Condition 1 which required that the development be carried out in 
accordance with the approved plans, as well as Condition 14 which related 
specifically to the parking arrangements for the residential element of the 
scheme. This condition required as follows: 

 
(14) The residential development hereby permitted must not be brought into 
use until the areas shown on the approved plan for the parking of vehicles shall 
have been made available, surfaced and marked out in accordance with details 
to be agreed beforehand by the Local Planning Authority, and the areas must 
be retained, including those areas marked out on the plan as being unallocated 
and not in private ownership, in a condition to the satisfaction of the Local 
Planning Authority, and reserved for that purpose at all times. Reason: In the 
interests of highway safety/amenity.  

 
7. The approved layout details included, in addition to those spaces allocated to 

specific units or within the curtilages of individual dwellings, a total of 18 
unallocated parking bays and spaces which were not assigned to particular 
properties and thereby were available for the use of all residents of the estate. 
These are formed of a bank of 8 spaces as well as a courtyard of 5 spaces 
which are sited to the front and rear of the block of 12 apartments at the 
western end of the estate, as well as two bays adjacent to plot 3 (one of which 
has not been physically marked out on site) and three individual parallel bays to 
the front of plots 6, 21 and 22 respectively.  

 
8. A parking management and associated permit system has, however, 

subsequently been introduced by the developer which has restricted the use of 
a proportion of these spaces to the extent that only the occupiers of the 
apartment block at the western end of the site are able to utilise them. This 
measure does not align with what was approved under Condition 14 of the 
planning permission as set out above and has served, as a consequence, to 
reduce the overall level of car parking that is available to other residents within 
the estate.  

 

9. The parking management scheme also restricts on-road parking within Shafford 
Meadows. This additional measure, the developer has explained, was 
introduced in order to prevent indiscriminate or obstructive parking within the 
estate. Whilst this further reduces the parking options for residents, in itself this 
element of the management scheme does not contradict the aforementioned 
condition and there is nothing otherwise within the planning permission which 
prevents such a scheme being imposed. 

 
10. This application seeks to formally modify the approved parking arrangements to 

the following extent: 
 

 12 of the 13 spaces at the western end of the site to be allocated for the 
usage of the occupiers of plots 30-41 (the 12 units within the block of 
flats) only on a ‘permit-holder’ basis; 

 additional unallocated parking to be provided in the form of a three-
space layby within the existing grass verge along the southern side of 

79



Shafford Meadows (opposite plots 17 to 19) to seek to mitigate against 
the reduced level of parking available to other residents;  

 an improvement to the demarcation of a second unallocated space 
adjacent to Plot 3 that formed part of the original planning approval but 
has not been physically provided on site; and 

 the other unallocated spaces to remain as such, for the use of the 
residents of the estate. This would result in a total of 9 unallocated 
spaces.  

 
11. The application thereby seeks a non-material amendment to the original 

planning approval (F/12/71663) through the partial substitution of the existing 
parking layout drawing (which is referenced in Condition 1 and referred to in 
Condition 14 of the decision notice) to allow for the above changes to the 
approved parking arrangements.  

 
Application procedure 

 
12. As noted above, the application seeks a non-material amendment to the 

original planning approval for the residential development that is now Shafford 
Meadows (F/12/71663) in respect of the parking arrangements only, under 
Section 96A of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended).  

 
13. Section 96A sets out in subsection (1) that: “a local planning authority in 

England may make a change to any planning permission relating to land in their 
area if they are satisfied that the change in not material”, with subsection (3) 
going on to state that the power conferred by this subsection includes the 
power to impose new conditions (a); and to remove or alter existing conditions 
(b). 

 

14. There is no statutory definition of what is ‘non-material’. As explained in the 
Planning Practice Guidance (Paragraph: 003 Reference ID: 17a-003-
20140306) “this is because it will be dependent on the context of the overall 
scheme – an amendment that is non-material in one context may be material in 
another”.  

 

15. Subsection (2) of Section 96A states, however, that “in deciding whether a 
change is material, a local planning authority must have regard to the effect of 
the change, together with any previous changes made under this section, on 
the planning permission as originally granted.” 

 

16. Taking account of this, the matter for determination in this application is 
whether or not the revisions proposed to the approved parking arrangements 
within Shafford Meadows materially alter the planning permission as originally 
granted (which incorporated the residential development of Shafford Meadows 
as well as the adjacent ‘Next’ retail store), having regard to the effect of this 
change.  

 

17. In the event that any changes proposed are deemed to materially alter the 
planning permission as originally granted, a full planning application would 
therefore be required.  

80



 
Consultation undertaken and representations received 

 

18. As an application for a non-material amendment is not an application for 
planning permission, the normal provisions relating to statutory consultation 
and publicity, which are set out in the Town and Country (Development 
Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015 (as amended), do not apply. 
Therefore, local planning authorities have discretion in whether and how they 
choose to inform other interested parties or seek their views.  
 

19. In this instance the Council has taken the discretionary decision to undertake 
consultation with the residents of Shafford Meadows on this application. As 
such, all 41 properties within the road were written to as part of the consultation 
process. This being both on the scheme as originally submitted in February 
2016, as well as upon the revised drawings that were subsequently received in 
July 2016 following the consideration of the comments received and 
subsequent discussions between LPA and the developer. The revised plans 
had (in addition to the measures set out in para. 10 above) also included a 
further 3 spaces that were proposed on the access road into the estate.  
 

20. A total of 9 letters of representation were received from residents of Shafford 
Meadows on these proposals with the following comments, issues and 
objections being raised: 

 

 The spaces on the access road could be obstructive and dangerous. 

 The spaces on the access estate road will be used by customers to the 
nearby retail units and parking controls should therefore be used in order to 
prevent this.  

 Further markings on the ground by plot 3 will encourage parking by non-
residents.  

 Agree in principle to the spaces 1-3 (on the access road) although the layout 
of the estate road is shown inaccurately on the plans with the bend being 
more significant than shown. It should be confirmed that HGVs are able to 
pass through this section of the road.  

 The tracking plan uses too small a car to be representative of all vehicles.  

 The existing parking issues were highlighted both in terms of insufficient day 
to day parking and visitor parking.  

 The bays are not required.  

 Most visitor spaces are for the majority of the time empty and therefore further 
parking is not necessary. 

 People should use their garages for parking.  

 Garages are too small to park cars in.  

 The matter of the management of the existing spaces was raised and the 
need to ensure that these are used only by visitors enforced.  

 The proposals will still result in issues at the far end of the estate.  

 It is important that it is clear as to whether the spaces are marked as visitor or 
unallocated as different restrictions apply within property deeds.  

 The suggestion was made that the unallocated/visitor spaces are controlled 
by permits to residents other than the flats to improve their usage. 

81



 The option of providing bays in the verge opposite plot 12 should be 
considered. 

 Amenity issues including loss of privacy and noise/disturbance.  

 The proposed bay spaces opposite plots 15 to 20 will visually impact the 
development, spoil the views of residents, intensify the amount of cars in this 
part of the estate, and reduce the buffer to the woodland SINC.  

 Impact on the value of property as a result of the proposals. 
 

Comment on representations received 
 

21. In response to some of the matters raised within the representations received: 
 

 The issue of the impact of the proposals upon the value of property is not a 
material planning consideration and cannot therefore be taken into account in 
decision making. Similarly, any covenants/clauses within title deeds are 
civil/legal matters and again are not material to the determination of the 
application.  
 

 With regards to the issue raised concerning garage sizes, these conformed to 
highway standards when assessed as part of the original planning application 
and are therefore counted towards overall parking provision.  
 

 The unallocated space to the immediate south-east of Plot 3 is an ‘existing’ 
car parking space that was approved under the original layout plan rather than 
being an entirely new bay. The proposals are to improve the physical 
demarcation of this space which is currently not physically marked out on site.  
 

 The matter of the potential for parking bays to be provided in the verge 
opposite the boundary wall of Plot 12 was raised by a number of residents in 
the representations received. The developer has investigated this option at 
the request of the LPA; however, it was subsequently identified that the 
presence of a SSE High Voltage Cable in this area (which runs from the sub-
station further along Shafford Meadows and underneath the grass verge) and 
SSE’s protected access rights to this would prevent the provision of parking 
bays in this location. As such, this was not carried forward into the final 
scheme proposed. 
 

 In terms of the vehicle used within the tracking diagrams, the Council’s Head 
of Transportation and Engineering is satisfied that this is an acceptable and 
representative vehicle for the purposes of this diagram and in the context of 
the proposals.  
 

22. The remaining matters raised are, where appropriate, covered in the below 
assessment of the proposals.  

 

Consultation responses 
 
23. Head of Transportation and Engineering - Confirmed that from a highway 

perspective, there would be no objection to the increase in car parking spaces 
on the Shafford Meadows site. They also stated due to issues generated by the 

82



allocation of ‘flat’ related parking, it is likely that parking issues will occur on site 
(if not already), and as such this additional parking will add an element of 
future-proofing the site in mitigation to the essential loss of parking to date. 
 

24. Head of Countryside and Trees – Confirmed that the proposed parking areas 
will not have any detrimental effect on adjacent trees/woodland and that no 
further arboricultural information is required. 

 
Development plan and / or legislative background 

 
25. As an application for a non-material amendment is not an application for 

planning permission, section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Act 2004 
does not apply. This section states that: “If regard is to be had to the 
development plan for the purpose of any determination to be made under the 
Planning Acts the determination must be made in accordance with the plan 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise”. 
 

26. As noted above, the matter for determination in this application is whether or 
not the changes proposed can be considered to be non-material to the original 
planning approval (F/12/71663) for the development which incorporates what is 
now Shafford Meadows. In considering this matter, in accordance with the 
relevant legislative provisions (Section 96A) and national Planning Practice 
Guidance (Paragraph: 009 Reference ID: 17a-009-20140306), the Council 
must have regard to the effect of the change and must also take into account 
any representations made by anyone notified. 
 

27. Development plan policies and associated supplementary guidance, however, 
still remain a relevant consideration in assessing the effects of the changes 
proposed within this application. In this case the following policies of the 
Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review 2001-2011, and associated 
supplementary planning guidance, are of relevance to the proposals and the 
matters raised within the representations received: 

 
Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review 2001-2011 

 
28. Saved Policy 23.NC states that development which is likely to have a direct or 

indirect adverse effect on a Site of Importance for Nature Conservation (SINC) 
will not be permitted, unless it can be demonstrated to the satisfaction of the 
Borough Council that the benefits of the development clearly outweigh the need 
to safeguard the nature conservation value of the site.  
 

29. Saved Policy 59.BE requires that development takes full and proper account of 
the site and is appropriate in layout, design and siting, both in itself as well as in 
relation to adjoining buildings, spaces and views, and natural features and trees 
worthy of retention. It also requires that a high standard of landscape design 
and satisfactory means of car parking and layout for vehicles be provided, and 
that development avoids unduly impacting upon residential amenity. 
 

30. Saved Policy 100.T requires that development is, or could be, well served by 
public transport, cycling and walking; includes measures which minimise its 

83



impact on the existing highway network; and that where a large number of 
journeys are likely to be generated, the development is located to minimise 
travel demand and provide a choice of mode of transport.  
 

31. Saved Policy 104.T requires that development provides an adequate level of 
off-highway parking in accordance with the Council’s relevant standards.  
 

Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents: 
 

 Residential Parking Standards Supplementary Planning Document (January 
2009) 

 
Assessment of proposals: 

 
32. As set out earlier in this report, the present parking management arrangements 

that have been put in place at Shafford Meadows do not align with the 
requirements of Condition 14 of planning permission F/12/71663 and have, 
through the restricting of the use of a proportion of the unallocated spaces at 
the western end of the development to only the occupiers of the flats, reduced 
the overall quantum of available car parking for other residents.  
 

33. Following the management scheme’s introduction, the developer was initially 
requested to remove the permit system by the Council in light of it not 
according with the aforementioned approved arrangements. They have, 
however, and following subsequent further discussions with the LPA, proposed 
an alternative of seeking to provide suitable additional on-site car parking as a 
means of mitigating against that which has been lost to other residents. These 
measures form the subject of this application.   

 
34. Following a full and proper assessment of the proposals and having given due 

consideration to all of the representations received which have resulted in 
amendments to the proposed plans, it is considered that the scheme and the 
alternative parking arrangements are acceptable and can be considered to 
represent a non-material change to the original planning approval. This, as 
explained further below, is on the grounds that the overall quantum of parking 
remains appropriate with no objections on this basis being raised by the 
Council’s Head of Transportation and Engineering, and that the arrangements 
will not adversely prejudice the amenity of residents or that of the immediate 
area, nor will they have any increased material impact upon either trees or 
other natural features, or highway safety. In these regards the proposals do not 
conflict with the requirements of the relevant development plan policies and 
associated supplementary planning guidance as set out above.  

 

35. The allocation of 12 of the 13 spaces at the western end of the estate to the 
occupiers of the flats would leave 9 unallocated spaces accessible for the other 
residents of the development. These spaces are in addition to the on-plot and 
allocated parking that is also available to plots 1-30. Whilst these 9 spaces are 
acknowledged to be less than the 17 that these plots would have previously 
had access to (in the as-built development), it is of notable consideration that 
this total of 17 was not exclusively for the use of the ‘non-flat’ units. It had also 

84



incorporated the parking provision for the block of 12 flats at the western end 
the estate, albeit with this being on an unallocated and unrestricted basis. It is 
not entirely inconceivable, therefore, that 12 of the 17 spaces could at any one 
point in time have been in use by the occupiers of the flats anyhow.  

 

36. The revised scheme would provide a total of 21 spaces (with 3 new bays and 
the provision of the additional space adjacent to plot 3 which had been part of 
the original approval but had not physically been demarcated on site). Whilst 12 
of these would now be restricted to the occupiers of the flats only, the increased 
provision is considered to provide for appropriate mitigation for this such that 
the overall quantum of parking remains appropriate. These spaces are, given 
the limited size of Shafford Meadows, also considered to be suitably distributed 
across the extent of the estate such that they are not inconveniently located for 
the residential properties.   

 
37. The additional bay spaces proposed within the verge opposite numbers 17 to 

21 Shafford Meadows are also of an acceptable layout and positioning and will 
not serve to obstruct or unduly impede the movement of vehicles, either along 
the road itself or when utilising existing car parking spaces. The Council’s Head 
of Countryside and Trees has also confirmed that these spaces raise no 
arboricultural concerns and it is not considered that their provision would have 
unacceptable material implications for the adjacent Site of Importance for 
Nature Conservation (SINC). Whilst accepting that the proposals will result in 
the loss of a part of the existing green verge, it is not deemed that this would 
materially affect the character of the road by way of an undue proliferation of 
vehicular parking or any unacceptable urbanising impact, with the significant 
proportion of the existing length of this verge and the associated landscaping 
being maintained such as to visually soften the new car parking bays.  
 

38. The scheme as originally submitted had also included a further three bay 
spaces along the access road from Turnpike Way. Whilst tracking drawings 
provided by the developer, as well as an on-site exercise undertaken by the 
Council, established that refuse vehicles could pass parked cars in this 
location, it was acknowledged that these spaces had been a particular point of 
objection in the representations received from residents. This being on the 
basis of potential resulting obstructions, their possible use by non-residents (i.e. 
customers of the adjacent retail uses) given their location, and amenity issues. 
As such, they have subsequently been removed from the proposals and no 
longer form part of this application.  
 

39. Whilst it is to a degree regrettable that additional parking controls have also 
been implemented along the access road itself which could otherwise have 
potentially been utilised for the purposes of casual parking, it is accepted that 
some form of parking management is required in this case in order to prevent 
inconsiderate parking and parking by customers of the adjacent retail units 
within Shafford Meadows. This was something that had been highlighted as a 
significant issue by residents, particularly during the first round of consultation 
on this application. It must also be remembered that this particular element of 
the parking management scheme is outside of the controls of the relevant 
planning conditions and does not otherwise contravene the planning 

85



permission.  
 

40. In terms of the other parking management issues raised within the 
representations received, it is not considered that it would be reasonable to 
require all of the proposed 9 unallocated spaces to be permitted to residents of 
the non-flat units and as such prevent, in planning terms, the occupiers of the 
flats from having any visitors etc. Whilst it is understood that there are other 
non-planning measures in place (deeds of covenants) which restrict the number 
of vehicles that the occupiers of the flats can have, the Local Planning Authority 
can only consider the planning merits of the application and as such whether 
the overall quantum and location of parking proposed is acceptable and, in this 
case, whether it materially alters the planning permission for the overall 
development as approved. The management and enforcement of the 
aforementioned provisions is a matter for the developer and their appointed 
management company.  
 

41. It is however considered reasonable and necessary to impose a requirement 
that the 9 unallocated spaces remain unallocated as shown on the submitted 
plan and thereby are not dedicated or sold to individual properties. In addition, 
and in order to ensure that the spaces are delivered and made available to 
residents in a timely manner, a requirement that this be undertaken within an 
appropriate stipulated timescale will also be imposed. In this regard, it is 
considered that 6 months from the date of the decision would be a suitable 
period. These measures will be secured by way of an alteration to Condition 14 
of the planning permission. Condition 1 will also be updated to include 
reference to the revised parking layout plan.  

  
Planning obligation /considerations 

 
42. There are no planning obligations requirements associated with this application.  
 

Other material considerations 
 
43. Reference needs to be made to the submitted Eastleigh Borough Local plan 

2011-2029 July 2014.  However, very little weight can be given to these policies 
as, although the Submission Local Plan has not been formally withdrawn, the 
Council has confirmed that it has decided to prepare a new local plan which will 
cover the period up to 2036.  With regard to this application, the new policies 
essentially echo those of the current plan and are not considered to affect the 
recommendation put forward. 

 
Conclusion 

 
44. In conclusion and for the reasons given, it is deemed that the proposed 

arrangements are acceptable and, when taking account of the effect of the 
change on the overall development, it is considered represent a non-material 
amendment to the original planning permission (F/12/71663). This being on the 
grounds that the overall quantum of parking remains appropriate with no 
objections on this basis being raised by the Council’s Head of Transportation 
and Engineering, and that the arrangements will not adversely prejudice the 

86



amenity of residents or that of the immediate area, nor will they have any 
increased material impact upon either trees or other natural features, or 
highway safety. It is therefore recommend that the application for a non-
material amendment be granted subject to the amended conditions set out at 
the outset of this report.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

87



 

F/12/71663 

Shafford Meadows, Hedge 

End 

88


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	7 Diversion of Public Footpath Cycleway at Pavilion Road, Hedge End, and Dedication of New Route
	Pavilion Road Scanned PDF Plan

	8 Fees and Charges
	9 Community Investment Programme Priorities in Hedge End, West End and Botley
	Hedge End CIPFINALNov2016
	West End CIP FINAL2016
	BotleyCIPFINAL2016

	10 Funding for Local Projects
	12 Planning Application - 67-71 High Street, West End
	13 Planning Application - Shafford Meadows, Hedge End

